’/AMv°~‘%

City of Keene Planning Board

AGENDA - AMENDED

Monday, September 29, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2" Floor Council Chambers
A. AGENDA ITEMS
1) Call to Order - Roll Call

2) Minutes of Previous Meetings — August 25, 2025 & September 8, 2025

3) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals

4) Public Hearings

a) Appeal of Decision on Street Access Permit Exception Request — 15 Crestview St —
Applicants and owners, Christopher Jager & Brittany Hill, are requesting an appeal of
a denied Street Access Permit exception request from Section 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land
Development Code related to the allowed driveway width for single- and two-family
homes. The parcel is 0.22-ac in size and is located in the Low Density District.

b) PB-2025-18 — Major Site Plan — Change of Use — Key Road Plaza, 109-147 Key Rd -
Applicant Anagnost Companies, on behalf of owner Key Road Development LLC,
proposes to convert ~61,526-sf of existing retail space in the Key Road Plaza
development into a charitable gaming facility for Revo Casino & Social House. The
parcel is ~5.8-ac in size and is located at 109-147 Key Rd (TMP #110-022-000) and is
located in the Commerce District.

c) 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan - In accordance with NH RSA 674:4 and NH RSA
675:6, the Keene Planning Board will hold a public hearing on the City of Keene 2025
Comprehensive Master Plan. The plan is available for review at KeeneNH.gov and at
City Hall in the Community Development Dept.

5) City Council Referral: R-2025-26 Relating to an Amended Return of Layout for a Public
Right-of-Way Known as Grove Street — City Council has requested Planning Board review
and recommendation regarding a proposal to return ~257 sf of land from Grove Street to
the adjacent parcel located at 0 Grove St. (TMP #585-057-000).

6) Staff Updates
a) Site Plan Review Thresholds

b) Correspondence

The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board.



7) New Business

8) Upcoming Dates of Interest
e Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD — Tuesday, October 14, 6:30 PM
e Planning Board Steering Committee — October 14, 12:00 PM
e Planning Board Site Visit — October 22", 8:00 AM — To Be Confirmed
e Planning Board Meeting —October 27t, 6:30 PM

B. MORE TIME ITEMS
1. Training on Site Development Standards — Snow Storage & Landscaping

C. ADJOURNMENT

The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board.



~NOoO ol hs W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

DRAFT

City of Keene
New Hampshire

PLANNING BOARD
MEETING MINUTES

Monday, August 25, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers,
City Hall

Members Present: Staff Present:

Harold Farrington, Chair Paul Andrus, Community Development

Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair Director

Mayor Jay V. Kahn Evan Clements, Planner

Councilor Michael Remy Megan Fortson, Planner

Sarah Vezzani

Armando Rangel

Kenneth Kost

Michael Hoefer, Alternate

Members Not Present:
Ryan Clancy

Randyn Markelon, Alternate
Tammy Adams, Alternate
Stephon Mehu, Alternate

)] Call to Order — Roll Call

Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. Mr. Hoefer
was invited to join the meeting as a voting member.

1) Minutes of Previous Meeting — July 28, 2025

Chair Farrington offered the following corrections:

Line 94 — to change the word percent to “precedent”

Line 286 and 287 — strike the words after “proposes to” to the word “replace”
Line 367 — the number 350 should be 3 50

A motion was made Mayor Kahn to approve the July 28, 2025 meeting minutes as amended.
The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously approved.

I11) Extension Request

Page 1 of 23
30f70



28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

PB-2025-01 — 2-lot Subdivision — Keene State College, 238-260 Main St — Owner, the
University System of New Hampshire, requests a first extension to the deadline to satisfy the
precedent conditions of approval for the proposed 2-lot subdivision of the parcel at 238-260
Main St (TMP# 590-101-000) into two lots ~0.48-ac and ~0.46-ac in size. The property is
located in the Downtown Transition District.

Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has submitted an extension request as per Staff
recommendation because their conditional approval expired on August 24. The application is
ready for final approval, but the Board will not be able to act on that tonight, since the applicant
has yet to submit signed paper copies of the final plat.

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board grant a first six-month
extension for PB-2025-01.
The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved.

IVV) Einal Vote on Conditional Approvals

Mr. Clements stated there were no applications ready for final approval.

V) Continued Public Hearing

a) PB-2024-20 — Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection
Conditional Use Permit — Gravel Pit, 21 & 57 Route 9 — Applicant Granite

Engineering LLC, on behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel
pit located at 21 & 57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection CUP
is requested for impacts to steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Sections 25.3.1.D, 25.3.3,
25.3.6, and 25.3.13 of the LDC related to the 250’ surface water resource setback, excavation
below the water table, toxic or acid forming materials, and the 5-ac excavation area maximum.
The parcels are a combined ~109.1-ac in size and are located in the Rural District.

Attorney Ariane Ice addressed the Board representing the applicant, G2 Holdings. She stated her
applicant was here tonight seeking an extension of their current permit for their gravel pit
operation, the conditional use permit for hillside protection, and three related waivers.

She noted one of the four waivers has been withdrawn.

Attorney Ice introduced the applicant, Cody Gordon, and the technical team consisting of
Brenton Cole and Justin Daigneault with Granite Engineering and Hydrogeologist Joel Banaszak
of Frontier Geoservices.

She noted they also have written opinion testimony from Luke Hurley regarding wildlife, from
Dr. Kathy Emmon Martin, PhD, an expert in noise and vibration issues, and from James
Widener, local realtor with knowledge of the real estate market. They have also submitted a
letter of support from one of the closest and largest abutters to the Keene Property, Granite
Gorge.

Attorney lce stated there has been a long process to get the application to this point. She felt the
Keene Earth Excavation Code is probably one of the most comprehensive in the State and in all
instances exceeds the State Earth Excavation regulations under RSA 155-E. She indicated Staff
have done an amazing job with the highly technical subject matter of ensuring that the

Page 2 of 23
4 0f 70



76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

regulations have been met in terms of what is being presented tonight. Under Staff direction,
they hired two independent third-party reviewers to oversee and analyze the technical aspects of
the project.

Any concerns flagged by the third-party reviewers resulted in numerous plan changes, some of
which are going to be discussed tonight. The Keene Conservation Commission also provided
comments as well as Southwest Region Planning Commission and are satisfied that the technical
aspects of excavation regulations have been met or that reasonable waivers are being proposed.

Attorney Ice went on to say there has been a minority of the public that has opposed this project,
many of which are not Keene residents. None of those objectors who have spoken so far about
the project are abutters to the Keene portion of the project. She felt the Sullivan property owners
would have an opportunity to address their comments when the applicant goes in front of
Sullivan at a hearing on September 3. Attorney lce continued by stating for the purposes of
Keene’s approval, their concerns should be viewed as coming from the general public rather than
those having abutter status.

She felt the comments from the public fall under the category of “not in my backyard,” which, if
afforded too much weight, would completely foreclose gravel pits anywhere unless in a region so
remote that the public’s interest in keeping transportation costs low would also be harmed. She
indicated statue RSA 155-E was passed specifically to resolve this situation.

Attorney Ice went on to explain that the enactment of RSA 155-E explicitly recognizes the
importance of affordable and accessible construction material to serve the best interest of the
citizens of New Hampshire and the taxpayers of the State. This interest and the stated purpose is
in the preamble to the enactment of the code itself. She stated that the State has decreed that
public concerns and even City regulations must bend to the overriding public interest in having
affordable construction materials and cannot completely ban excavation projects such as this
one. This industry has been flagged as an important industry. She felt independent experts should
carry more weight than individuals that are not backed by science.

Attorney Ice stated the Keene location is a perfect location for a gravel pit and the applicant is
his own abutter on much of the land. The actual excavation site is very small in comparison to
the overall parcel. This site also falls outside of the City of Keene viewshed.

Its access is off the State highway. The project does not really affect any City roads and it is
surrounded by large commercial areas like Granite Gorge and the shooting range.

Brent Cole of Granite Engineering addressed the Board next. Mr. Cole stated he was before the
Board in March and gave an overview of the overall project. He stated he is before the Board to
review what has transpired in the last six months. He stated they have been working with Staff,
and this project has been signed off on by Staff, signed off on by the engineers and is a project

that has many safeguards built into it.

Mr. Cole stated they are proposing the expansion of the gravel operation that this Board
approved in 2022. It involves tax map 215, lot 7 and lot 8 and includes two lots in Sullivan.

He noted the applicant owns 300 acres of which they are disturbing 31 acres. He noted Keene
regulations require 300 feet to the property line, which far exceeds the 50 feet the State requires.

Page 3 of 23
5 of 70



123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

He noted the applicant complies with Keene’s regulations. He noted this operation cannot be
seen from Route 9.

Mr. Cole stated the project is broken up into eight periods to make sure that they are not
disturbing any more land than they have to. Each period requires a compliance hearing which
will require Staff to review the project and a compliance hearing will be held before the Planning
Board. A bond will be in place before the item can move to the next period.

Period one starts near the current operation and it will work its way uphill towards Sullivan.
The last period is the period the Board approved three years ago, which lowers the current deck
floor and allows the applicant to extract material already approved. At the present time, the
applicant uses that area for processing.

Mr. Cole explained the first waiver they are requesting is to allow more than five acres to be
disturbed at once. This Board approved that waiver in 2022. He noted the applicant could not
move forward onto another phase unless he opens up more than five acres. Hence, the first
waiver would be allowing him to move into period one, open up roughly about 12 acres, and
then close down the five acres and move on to the next phase.

Mr. Cole stated storm water has been reviewed by the City Engineer who has signed off on the
design. Each period has a settling basin to allow the water to settle out.

It then migrates down towards the existing gravel operation where it infiltrates into the soils.
There will be a stormwater pond during the final phase that will allow the water from the site to
infiltrate. There are no stormwater impacts off site. Everything is being mitigated. There are no
adverse impacts to any of the neighboring properties. The applicant is waiting for a response
from the State on the Alteration of Terrain Permit.

Other permits the applicant requires include a Conditional Use Permit because of the Hillside
Protection Overlay District. This permit was approved in 2022. There are steep slopes that will
be affected,

but there is an erosion control plan as well as a reclamation plan, which have all been reviewed
and signed off on by the City engineer.

The next waiver Mr. Cole addressed was also a waiver the Board approved in 2022, which was
to reduce one of the wetland setbacks from 250 feet to 75 feet. On a map, Mr. Cole noted a low
functioning wetland that the Board allowed the applicant to encroach upon within 75 feet.

Mr. Cole noted this proposed site is a well-buffered site on Route 9. It is 300 acres, and the
applicant is only disturbing 10%, which will be reclaimed to somewhat of a natural site once the
work is completed. The closest abutter to this site is 1,600 feet away. There are only two
residential abutters in Keene. He noted the safeguards in place for this work exceed Keene’s
regulations, which are already pretty rigorous.

Geologist, Joel Banaszak of Frontier Geoservices was the next to address the Board. He
indicated he worked on the acid mine drainage report for this project. Mr. Banaszak explained to

Page 4 of 23
6 of 70



171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

assess for acid mine drainage potential, quantifiable results need to be provided that indicate this
work either does or does not have the potential to produce acid mine drainage.

He indicated samples of bedrock were collected and sent to a laboratory in Canada to look at the
ratio of potential acid forming minerals versus the potential alkaline forming minerals.

What was discovered is that a lot of the rock in the area actually does have a ratio that is more
acidic than it is alkaline, which does have the potential for this rock to produce acid mine
drainage.

Mr. Banaszak went on to explain there is no correct recipe at this site to create acid mine
drainage. There is acidic forming minerals and acidic forming compounds, but there also needs
to be water and air to create the acid. In the Granite State, much of the rocks are crystalline, so
they don't have any porosity to them to allow water and air to move through them. Those are the
two components of the recipe that is missing at this location to create the acid mind drainage.
However, he felt the project has the potential, and hence the applicant needs to act with caution.

Mr. Banaszak went on to say as a result, the first thing that has been done is the development of a
monitoring program to look at groundwater throughout a series of monitoring wells, which are
located at the site.

Second, he looked at the surface water and stormwater. He noted Sanborn Head’s Geologist
reviewed that monitoring program and had great input on it. Those comments are included in the
Staff report. He added there will be quarterly monitoring as well as monthly reports that will be
produced, which he felt goes above and beyond what is typically required for an actual
contaminated site in New Hampshire. He stated this is just monitoring for something that might
not show up.

There are also proactive mitigation efforts that will be put in place. A good proactive mitigation
measure would be to line all the stormwater conveyances with alkaline materials. The second is
that none of this water is going to leave the site and all stormwater will be infiltrated into the
groundwater.

The third would be if acid mine drainage should show up to outline what can be done. Based on
that possibility, the applicant has developed an initial response action plan. Those initial response
actions included a variety of things, such as locating more monitoring wells, initiating immediate
domestic water well sampling, and a treatment of the water.

This concluded the applicant’s presentation.

Chair Farrington clarified the next period for disturbance would be seven acres and asked if the
acreage gets smaller as they move forward. Mr. Cole answered in the affirmative and stated there
is one period when the acreage drops to 0.4 acres.

Mr. Kost clarified the acid mine drainage will not run off the site but would go into an
infiltration pond and infiltrate into the groundwater and noted this would still have an impact on
groundwater areas and wells. Mr. Cole stated he would refer this to Mr. Banaszak but added the
acid being referred to does sound concerning but it is not true acid. Mr. Banaszak stated acid
mind drainage is not like a true sulfuric acid, such as a car battery. It is more about a low pH
level in water, which has the ability to dissolve heavy metals out of rock.

Page 5 of 23
7 of 70



218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

He added their monitoring program would be looking at places of surface water and
groundwater. If it shows up in the surface water, there is already mitigation efforts in place with
limestone lined stormwater conveyances as well as infiltration ponds, which will be lined with
limestone as well. This is the first item that would stop acid mine drainage from getting into the
groundwater.

However, if it ends up in the groundwater, this would be an issue that would be addressed down
the line when they figure out how big a problem it is as there are mitigation efforts that are going
to be in place to prevent this from happening.

Mr. Hoefer stated what he understood from the testimony from Mr. Banaszak is that this issue is
unlikely to happen in New Hampshire based on the quality of rock, but asked if it has happened
on a rare occasion and how has that been handled. Mr. Banaszak stated he knows of two other
acid mine drainage sites; one site is in Warren and the other is in Vermont, which are very
specific sites where they were going after copper mine and heavy metals. The rocks in this area
were more porous. He added most of the acid mine drainage sites are not modern sites; they are
poorly managed sites in the turn of the century.

Chair Farrington asked for clarification regarding the acid mine drainage plans. The applicant is
asking for a waiver and yet they have established plans for detection and remediation, etc. He
stated that Sanborn Head has signed off on these plans and asked why the applicant would still
need the waiver. Mr. Cole stated Keene’s regulations are written not keeping in mind New
England material but more about issues outside the State. The regulations stated if there is any
sort of acid forming detection, the area should not be dug, even though there are many things that
can be done to help mitigate the situation.

It is a binary regulation, so there is a need to request the waiver from it. There are safeguards in
place so that it does not become a safety issue.

Councilor Remy noted the exact language that states excavation of bedrock shall not be
permitted where bedrock contains toxic or acid forming elements or compounds. Some of the
other language states an exception shall be issued if they meet certain requirements. This one
does not have that language. Mr. Banaszak responded to that comment by saying much of the
rock will show a mineral that can form acid, which is a common occurance. The regulation is so
overarching that no one should ever be allowed to dig up bedrock; therefore, the waiver is being
requested.

Mayor Kahn asked who is it that detected that one of those metals is pyrite. Mr. Banaszak stated
it was noticed in the drilling samples. The laboratory analysis that was done was done by SGS
out of Canada, which is a reputable mining laboratory.

Mayor Kahn noted one could not determine the type of minerals that are present on this site
through the detection method used by the applicant today. Mr. Banaszak stated the method is
actually more looking at the geochemistry of that rock, not necessarily the mineralogy. You can
look at the mineralogy, but that would be gross overview, whereas this method is very specific to
the elemental composition. This is more robust than if you just looked at the mineralogy. This is
a very specific analysis, which gives a quantifiable result as required in the regulations.

The Mayor asked what mineral falls to the alkaline or the acidic side. Mr. Banaszak stated pyrite
has the acidic formula and calcium carbonate is the one you look at for alkaline. The Mayor

Page 6 of 23
8 of 70



266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
2178
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

asked about sulfate and iron. Mr. Banaszak stated sulfate comes from pyrite and iron is a
separate metal (not acidic or alkaline). He explained the bedrock is not being turned into powder
with the applicant’s operation, which will not cause heavy metals to leach out, what is being
done is creating nugget sized rock.

The Mayor referred to filtration, and he asked what the most desirable situation is for water to be
managed given these different elevation levels that exist on the site, in particular, to site eight
where the pond is recommended. Mr. Banaszak stated Granite Engineering did a great job at
developing these phases and making sure that each of them have their individual storm drainage
ponds, or at least for a few of them, throughout the series of the project. He added, as indicated
previously, the stormwater conveyances will be lined with limestone, as will the infiltration
ponds. This is how the water will be managed, as anything that comes off the area that is
currently being mined will go into a conveyance. That conveyance will be lined with the
limestone; the limestone will counteract any potential acid that may be coming off that rock,
even though acid is not expected necessarily based on interpretation. However, Mr. Banaszak
added the applicant is ready for it and will act proactively to mitigate this. Mr. Cole added they
also tested the water levels at the site, and it has been designed to be six feet above the
groundwater level as per Keene’s regulations. He further stated MSHA (Mine Safety and Health
Administration), a third-party entity that monitors gravel operations, does not permit operations
in the water table. They will also be monitoring the site.

Ms. Vezzani asked which waiver was being withdrawn. Mr. Cole stated it is the waiver for work
within the water table — Waiver 3.325. He explained there were conflicting wells. There was a
well that was dug in 2022, which was coming up with information that they did not agree with,
so another one was dug in close proximity to offset that. However, what was realized is that the
applicant did not need that waiver because they are not going to be working within the water
table.

Mr. Kost asked what was involved in the reclamation. Mr. Cole stated there will be a series of
varying ledge faces as you progress up the hill. There will be topsoil brought back. The five
acres that are proposed to be disturbed will now be growing soil for woods to occur or for any
type of development to occur in the future. Mr. Kost asked for the height from the flat area to
top of the ledge. Mr. Cole stated period one is at about 40 feet and each period goes up and
should be between 30 feet to 60 feet.

Ms. Vezzani asked for information on groundwater quality results. Mr. Banaszak stated the way
the regulation is written, once the applicant receives approval, they would be required to
complete two baseline rounds of groundwater monitoring, and this is written into the
groundwater monitoring plan for the acid mine drainage. They also have to complete a domestic
water well sampling for anyone that lives within 1/2 mile of the active site.

Ms. Vezzani clarified there has been no blasting done previously anywhere withing the 300
acres. Mr. Cole stated there was blasting on the Sullivan side, but no groundwater testing was
done because that area did not exceed the requirements for having to do testing.

Ms. Vezzani asked where the results would be stored. Mr. Banaszak stated the AOT portion will
be sent to the State and those are recorded annually. The City will get a copy of the result and
will be included in the report within 45 days of receiving the sample results.

Page 7 of 23
9 of 70



313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Ms. Vezzani asked approximately how many landowners in Keene are within half mile of this
site. Mr. Cole stated there are seven properties.

Staff comments were next.

Planner, Megan Fortson, addressed the Board. Ms. Fortson stated she would like to provide the
Board with some additional background information as to what happened between the July 28
Planning Board meeting and this evening's meeting. The City selected Sanborn Head and
Associates to serve as the third-party hydrogeology consultant for this application prior to the
July 28th Planning Board meeting. The applicant, during that meeting, had requested a
continuation to allow the applicant and the consultant sufficient time to prepare and review
updated materials in preparation for tonight’s meeting. Since the last meeting, there have been
certain iterations of the applicant submitting updated materials, such as updated plans,
hydrogeologic analysis, and stormwater reports. The applicant met with Staff and the consultants
last week to review the final round of revisions. Chad Brannon from Fieldstone Lane Consultants
and Russ Abell, who is attending remotely tonight, has been reviewing the third-party
hydrogeology review with his team and felt comfortable with the project moving forward to the
next step of presenting the application.

Ms. Fortson stated Chad Brannon felt the applicant had satisfied all the comments that he had
provided in previous memos, and Mr. Abell did have a few comments related to stormwater
infiltration during period one and period eight. Those two periods are right next to one another
because the applicant would be working up the hill and back down. Those two conditions are
included in the recommended conditions for this evening.

Ms. Fortson next reviewed the proposed conditions of approval. She reminded the Board there
were originally four waiver requests for this application. The first was related to the reduced
surface water buffer. The second was related to the minimum excavation area. The third was
related to acid mine drainage, and the fourth was related to excavation below the water table.
Neither of the consultants, after reviewing the updated materials, felt that the waiver related to
excavation below the water table was necessary, because the applicant was going to ensure that
they are maintaining a six-foot buffer between the seasonal high groundwater table and where
they are excavating as required by the City regulations.

Should the Board approve this application, the conditions of approval to be met prior to final
approval and signature of the plans would be as follows:

Owner’s signature appears on the plans.

Submittal of five (full size) paper and digital copies of the final plan set.

Submittal of a security for sedimentation and erosion control.

Stormwater management and reclamation for the first permit period of work.

The applicant or owner shall pay all outstanding third-party consultant fees.
Submittal of all required State and Federal permits.

Inclusion of the approval number for these permits on the cover sheet of the plan set.

Page 8 of 23
10 of 70



361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Inclusion of the waivers and conditional use permits with the results also added to the cover
sheet.

Subsequent to final approval, Staff recommends the following conditions:
Erosion, sediment control and drainage measures be installed and maintained during and prior to
the commencement of work and throughout the entirety of the project.

Over the life of the excavation permit and any renewal thereof, the applicant shall provide
monthly inspections by a qualified third party licensed professional in the State of New
Hampshire regarding erosion and sedimentation control, PH, and stormwater runoff. Reports for
these inspections shall be submitted to the Community Development Department.

Over the life of the excavation permit and any renewal thereof in accordance with Section
25.3.4.c, the applicant shall monitor groundwater levels and surface water levels on a monthly
basis to determine the extent to which there are any adverse impacts.

Sub Condition:

The applicant shall notify the Community Development Department within 24 hours of any
adverse impacts on ground water levels.

The applicant shall implement the approved protocol for providing replacement water supplies
for water supplies that are disrupted as a result of the excavation operations.

The conditions recommended by the hydrogeology consultant are as follows:
In accordance with Section 25.3.3 of the LDC, a monitoring well shall be installed in the area of
Period 1 in Spring 2026 to confirm the seasonal high water table conditions.

In accordance with Section 25.3.3 of the LDC, seasonal high water level monitoring shall be
completed in bedrock well BRW-09 prior to the commencement of work in Permit Period 8 and
throughout the duration of work within this phase to confirm that the revised grades are at least
6-ft above the water table.

In accordance with Section 25.3.5.C of the LDC, ongoing monitoring of ground water quality
shall be conducted semi-annually throughout the term of the permit and any renewal thereof, and
for a period of not less than 2-years following the cessation of excavation activities and
reclamation of the excavation site.

Six months prior to the commencement of work for the next permit period, the property owner
shall submit a Permit Renewal application for review and approval by the Planning Board and
sufficient security to cover the cost of sedimentation and erosion control, stormwater
management, and reclamation for the next permit period of work to be completed.

Excavation activities shall only occur between the hours of 7:00 am and 5:00 pm, Monday
through Friday.

The area of unreclaimed, inactive, and active excavation area shall not exceed 12 acres.

At the end of all excavation operations, the site shall be reclaimed and monitored in accordance
with Section 25.4 of the Land Development Code.

Page 9 of 23
11 of 70



409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Attorney Ice clarified the hours of operation. She agreed the hours would be 7 am to 5 pm but
there will be some Saturday morning activity that could happen, which won’t be blasting and
wanted to make sure this matches the Keene code. Ms. Fortson stated the condition specifies
excavation activity shall occur between 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM and noted the specific section of
the code states that the sale and loading of stockpiled materials may also occur from 8:00 AM to
1:00 PM on Saturdays. However, no other excavation activities shall be permitted on this day.

Mr. Hoefer asked what type of authority the Board has between the periods of operation. The
Chair noted at the last meeting the Board delegated authority for inspection to code enforcement
Staff. Mr. Hoefer asked what standing the Board would have to affect the operation of the next
period.

Ms. Fortson referred to language regarding this item in the recommended motion:

Six months prior to the commencement of work for the next permit period, the property owner
shall submit a permit renewal application for review and approval by the Planning Board and
sufficient security to cover the cost of sedimentation and erosion control, stormwater
management and reclamation for the next permit period of work to be completed.

She explained the intent behind that condition is to ensure that six months before the next period,
the application will be coming back to the Planning Board for a permit renewal to be able to
provide an update to the Board on the status of the current period that they are working on and
how they anticipate the next period will go. If there were to be any substantial change in the
scope of the project, such as if the applicant expects to get more material or were going to be
excavating at a different period and rate than expected, this could fall under a minor amendment.
If it is a faster timeframe for excavation, it could be considered a major permit amendment and
would need to be reviewed by the Board.

Councilor Remy referred to Section 25.3.6-acid warning elements—if this was something that
starts to happen during a period, would the Board have the opportunity address it.

Ms. Fortson stated this is why they have the acid mine drainage monitoring plan in place and
would need to address it with Staff to see how it can be addressed.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni asked what liability the City has for regional impact.

Ms. Fortson stated at the December 16 meeting, the applicant and their team had come before the
Board for advice and comment to see if the Board felt that this project was going to be a
development of regional impact. At that meeting, the Board had decided that this application was
of regional impact. Once application the was submitted and it was accepted as complete, the City
noticed the other community, which in this case was Sullivan, notifying them as well as our local
Regional Planning Commission, in accordance with that RSA. She stated it has already been
determined that it is a development of regional impact.

Mr. Clements added the City doesn’t necessarily have liability with other towns in the most
literal sense. If the applicant is not operating within the terms of their permit there are remedies
for that under the local ordinance and under State statute.

Mr. Kost asked for Mr. Abell’s comments next.

Page 10 of 23
12 of 70



457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Mr. Russ Abell of Sanborn Head addressed the Board next. He stated he reviewed the
application for two primary reasons. One was to look at the two waivers, which mostly applied to
hydrogeology in regard to the acid mine drainage concern. The other was the waiver that has
been withdrawn regarding excavation below water table.

He noted in the recommended conditions of approval there is a condition related to
understanding where the seasonal high water table is. Mr. Abell explained groundwater can be at
a higher level or a low level depending on precipitation, time of year, etc. The proposed
condition is related to having information collected during the high water table, mostly during
the springtime when there is a lot of rainfall and snowmelt, so that the applicant can confirm that
their proposed excavation grades will maintain that compliance of six feet above the water table.
They do not have that data right now based on the timing in which they collected their
information.

Mr. Abell stated that in his opinion, the applicant has satisfied the understanding of where the
water table is currently throughout the area and have designed appropriately to address that. He
added with that condition to collect water in the in a high-water table condition they will then
confirm where the water table is, and then if needed, they would modify their excavation grades
to be sure they meet that six feet above the water table.

Mayor Kahn asked how the applicant would know it is above the six feet water table.

Mr. Abell stated they will do the monitoring before they start the excavation in those periods and
will be able to understand where the water table is before they start the excavation process. They
are going to install a well in period one, which will be measured in the springtime so they can
understand where the high-water table is. Mr. Clements added if the seasonal high water table is
six feet higher than anticipated, the applicant would be aware of it because of this monitoring
well and would make an adjustment in their practice to remain in compliance with the
regulations when they come in for the compliance hearing, if they haven't already contacted the
City.

Attorney Ice clarified what was just said regarding the requirement for a compliance hearing and
permit application and wanted to make sure the language is clear that it is not a new permit
process, but to make sure whatever compliance was required under the conditions have been met
to move forward to the next period. Ms. Fortson clarified the language in the motion refers to
“permit renewal period” and the compliance hearing is to address concerns the Board might
have. Prior to a permit renewal, in addition to the logs, plans and reports Staff will be receiving
regularly, there will be site visits to make sure that the site appears to be in compliance with the
approved plans.

Mr. Rangel asked Staff if Keene approves this plan but Sullivan takes other action, will that halt
the process in any way. Ms. Fortson stated her understanding is that the applicant needs a special
exception to operate on the Sullivan lot; a hearing on that was delayed to wait to hear the
decision from Keene. Mr. Clements stated it is the responsibility of this Board to act on the
application before it tonight. What other towns decide to do with this application is not
necessarily germane to Keene’s action on this application. However, if Sullivan requires a
change to the application, that could require the applicant to come back before this Board.

Page 11 of 23
13 of 70



504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525

526
527
528
529
530

531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Ms. Fortson reviewed major amendment/minor amendment compared to a permit renewal: She
explained if the applicant wishes to continue their excavation project, they cannot propose any
modifications to the size or location of the excavation, the rate of removal, or the plan for
reclamation (these are the three triggers). As long as those three things are not changing, they can
come back for a regular permit renewal. If there are any changes proposed to location, size of
excavation, or rate of removal, the applicant would need to potentially go through a minor
amendment or a major amendment process.

Mr. Abell went on with his comments. With reference to acid mind drainage, Mr. Abell stated
acid mind drainage is uncommon in New Hampshire, particularly, in the types of rocks that we
have. However, there is pyrite in some of the rocks, so that potential is there. However, he was
comfortable with the applicant’s plans to address acid mine drainage if it does become an issue.
Mr. Abell went on to say the changes in the monitoring plan was based on his recommendations
to provide monthly monitoring for pH, etc. for greater frequency of information to be able to
detect if there is going to be a problem. He stated he has also recommended that after a certain
period, if you are not seeing acid mine drainage developing, the applicant could lower the
frequency of data collection because by that time, if you have not seen it by then, it is not likely
to occur. Mr. Abell stated based on this, he is comfortable that their approach, plan, and actions
(if they do see it) are appropriate. However, there is no guarantee that some of it might not get
into the groundwater, lower pH, or some of the dissolved metals, but the applicant has an action
plan in place to stop that excavation and reclaim it if they have those problems.

Chair Farrington referred to Fieldstone’s latest report dated August 23rd (page 15 of the packet)
and to #13 in which every box is checked with a possible exception and noted he did not see this
explicitly referred to in the Staff report. Fieldstone has highlighted the driveway where it goes
into Route 9, where Granite Engineering has their response to that. In blue italics, Fieldstone has
a further comment which leaves it to Staff to address.

Ms. Fortson stated this is related to some erosion present based on aerial imagery on an adjacent
portion of the site, which is part of the former Palmer Lodge that operated on this property a
while ago. Ms. Fortson stated Staff discussed this with the applicant and Staff’s understanding is
that there was previously a stream that ran through here, which was diverted to the pool that was
on this property and was never redirected back. She stated Staff is aware of this but because the
applicant is not proposing to modify this portion of the site at this time as part of the excavation,
it will be something that will be handled in the future as part of a separate potential site plan
application for the development. Mr. Clements agreed with what Ms. Fortson stated it is an
existing condition of the site.

The Mayor noted he has not seen a traffic analysis on Route 9 with respect to this application.
He indicated his personal experiences on this route have not been pleasant and added if this is
going to be a continuing work site, it does concern him.

Ms. Fortson stated Staff did receive a traffic analysis in December when the applicant initially
submitted their application. It was actually the original traffic analysis that was performed when
the application was previously approved in 2022. She stated her understanding is that the
applicant was not submitting an updated traffic analysis because they expected the rate of
removal was going to be the same on the property, so they were not expecting a change in the

Page 12 of 23
14 of 70



550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

number of vehicle trips to be generated as a result of this application and felt it might be prudent
to have this verified by the applicant.

Mr. Cole addressed traffic and stated the study in 2022 was accurate to what they expect to see
with the current operation. He stated as mentioned, the first phase proposes to open up seven
acres with all the other phases proposing to be less than that. He stated they are not proposing to
have more traffic but that the duration of traffic will be longer. He added as per request of the
Mayor, they are going to be locating extra signage; “trucks entering on the highway” signs are
spaced every 100 feet to make sure that safety is being upheld. He added this isa DOT
jurisdictional roadway and DOT has granted the driveway permit and monitor the roadway for
safety. They have agreed with the traffic study done in 2022. The Mayor stated what he is
concerned about is the eastbound traffic and the hill that descends to the applicant’s driveway.
He noted, when you come around that bend, sight distance is difficult. The Mayor in response
stated he ran the risk of a driver in front of him stopping abruptly when they noticed one of the
applicant’s trucks and he did not see the sign asking him to slow down. Mr. Cole in response
stated the signage they placed strategically, based on Mr. Mayor's, comments were not
necessarily related to the applicant’s plan yet, as it is part of the approved plan but there are signs
that say “trucks entering highway” placed within 425 feet and stated he will get that sign
extended further to make sure to gives as much warning.

Councilor Remy asked to clarify, given that this is a state highway, if this issue is within the
Board’s purview because the state issued a driveway permit. Ms. Fortson stated the street access
itself is not under the Board’s purview. The applicant had to go through a separate process with
the state to obtain that street access permit. However, the Board could potentially require as a
precedent condition of approval that requires the installation of additional signage on the
applicant’s property; the Board cannot require signage on the State highway.

With that, the Chair asked for public comment. He asked the public to keep their comments to
the new material addressed tonight.

Ms. Yulia Sokol of Sullivan stated her home is two miles from this site. She stated she wanted to
focus on the regional impact of this project. She stressed the need to protect the beauty of this
region as it brings in a lot of revenue from tourism. She talked about having to drive through a
cloud of dust due to this project and noted nearly 100 trucks were counted driving through
Gilsum. She indicated she has driven behind a gravel trick on Old Sullivan Road, which she
indicated is not permitted on this road. Ms. Sokol stated Apple Hill Center for Chamber Music is
two miles from this site. She indicated, living two miles from this site, she constantly hears
construction noise, vibration, and felt Apple Hill would have the same experience.

In closing, she noted if this project needs this many exemptions, it probably is not the best
project for this area.

Ms. Jodi Newell of 32 Leverett Street Keene addressed the Board next. Ms. Newell expressed
her concern that it was indicated that the Board should only listen to the two Keene abutters, and
felt Keene should be good neighbors by looking out for others who are also affected by this
project.

Mr. Jim Manley of Sullivan NH, abutter to this site, addressed the Board. He noted he has been
requesting a visualization of the end stage of this project and is yet to receive one. He also

Page 13 of 23
15 of 70



598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

questioned the one-mile radius when Board regulations call for 2,500 feet. He noted within the
2,500-foot radius there are at least 25 households. Mr. Manley felt beyond the environmental and
aesthetic considerations, the decision comes down to revenue. He noted to the price of $500,000,
G2 Holdings paid for 300 acres and felt the applicant has made their money on this property.

Mr. Manley pointed out according to the Town of Gilsum, there is no liability insurance if
something happens to any of the abutters. This project is causing well contamination, foundation
damage, and quality of life impact. Gilsum is having issues with dust and noise, the applicant is
not using water trucks to mitigate dust. He indicated RSA 155-E is adamant about adverse
impacts to property values and felt this needs to be taken into consideration.

Mr. Matt Keenan, a Dublin resident, addressed the Board on behalf of Habitat of Humanity. He
stated he would like to present to the Board how generous the application has been to his
organization. He stated Habitat for Humanity occupies their site at no charge for its marketplace
restore concept. The applicant has offered the site next to their current site for development of a
full restore building and noted this is how they raise money to build homes for workforce
housing. He felt this was a good organization that gives back to the community.

Mr. Michael Brooks, 32 Tyler Lane, Sullivan was the next speaker. Mr. Brooks stated he is a
Sullivan resident who is actually in favor of the project. He stated we need gravel, and the
applicant has been a good business to deal with. He stated he would like to know if there are any
safety aspects as it pertains ledge face. He asked, after the reclamation, if the ledge face was
going to be something that will be addressed.

Attorney Friedrich Mukhal addressed the Board on behalf of Jim Manley. Attorney Mukhal
stated the applicant’s attorney started her presentation talking about jurisdiction and “not in my
backyard” concept. He stated his response to that is the New Hampshire legislature and the
Supreme Court have decided that when it comes to excavation issues like this, not in my
backyard matters. He noted RSA 155 E finds that gravel pits are necessary, but we do not want
them in our backyard. The overall take away from the statute is in addition to the technical things
that have been discussed tonight is that no one wants to see operations such as this from the road.
He stated when you are standing right at the driveway, you won't be able to see this operation,
but as you drive along Route 9, you will be able to see the 200-foot cliffs, which the engineer has
accurately stated does not need to be reclaimed. He noted if this is approved, the Board will be
approving 200-foot cliffs in Granite Gorge, which would be the result because the statute says
you do not have to reclaim ledge face.

With reference to AMD, the statement was that these rocks do not have any porosity. He noted
granite and gneiss have porosity. He went on to say it is concerning that the seasonal water table
elevation has not yet been determined.

Attorney Mukhal continued and talked about what Sullivan is going to do. Sullivan is going to
determine whether to approve a special exception, but so too will Keene, because in addition to
approval under this Board’s jurisdiction, the Keene LDC requires a special exception from the
Zoning Board as well.

He next referred to traffic. At the last meeting, he noted he provided a handout of what the
applicant stated to this Board in 2022: 30 to 40 loads a day. However, at the Sullivan meeting,
the applicant indicated it would be upwards of 80 loads a day, which he pointed out, would be

Page 14 of 23
16 of 70



646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

160 trips, which he indicated is consistent with the testimony heard today. He felt this was a
misrepresentation to this Board and felt the applicant was planning on an increase to the volume
daily and for the duration of the project.

With no further comment, the Chair closed the public hearing.

Councilor Remy referred to Condition 1. E. of the recommended motion that states submittal of
State and Federal permits and that the approval numbers should be added to the cover sheet. He
felt this condition should be revised to state submittal and approval of State and Federal permits
or perhaps remove the word submittal and replace it with approval of all State and Federal
permits. Councilor Remy stated it was implied that the necessary State and Federal permits must
be approved, but this would make the language clearer. He continued by stating that the other
conditions seem clear, and the Board will need to first address the requested waivers.

Councilor Remy continued and stated that generally speaking, you cannot not choose where
there is gravel, and you cannot choose where there are the appropriate materials to do
excavation. He felt 155 E is clear on that issue. He asked that the Board consider the motion to
approve be read so the Board could discuss it further.

Mayor Kahn stated that after a number of months, it would be hard to think that this application
should be continued; however, there is the potential to review the long list of recommended
conditions of approval and new information over the next month. The Mayor continued by
stating he was not sure if he wanted to approve this item during this meeting because it covers a
lot of information and suggested a continuance based on other data provided this evening.

Councilor Remy felt he would rather discuss each item under the recommended conditions of
approval individually to understand them as a Board than continue the application for a month.
He stated that the applicant and others have been in front of this Board a number of times
regarding this project. Councilor Remy agreed this list of conditions is a lot to review but
disagreed on the more-time idea.

Ms. Vezzani stated she felt somewhere in between with respect to what the Mayor and Councilor
Remy stated. She stated she has concerns about the wells of the residents in Sullivan and what
blasting had done to those wells. She stated she did not see any information that tells her that
these issues were not true and did not want any other residents” wells affected. Councilor Remy
stated it was Gilsum residents who were having issues with their wells. Ms. VVezzani stated her
comments should apply to Gilsum wells instead. The Chair stated that Gilsum has different
regulations related to an excavation site and that the code in Keene would likely address the issue
for Keene residents. Ms. Vezzani stated she was concerned that the residents in other towns
would be affected due to this application being of regional impact. Ms. Mastrogiovanni
questioned who would be held responsible if wells in other communities were affected. The
Chair stated that a motion to continue be made.

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to continue PB-2024-20 to the Planning Board meeting on
September 29, 2025 at 6:30 pm in City Hall 2" flood Councilor Chambers. The motion was
seconded by Sarah Vezzani.

Page 15 of 23
17 of 70



693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Mr. Hoefer stated he was not inclined to support a continuance without being specific as to what
additional information the Board would be looking for. He stated he reviewed the provided
documents in the packet and feels the Board knows what they need to know to make a decision.
He felt the Board should be clear as to what specific information is being requested that is
preventing the Board from making a decision at this point.

The Mayor stated he would like to review a 2022 traffic analysis and satisfy his concern related
to traffic. The Mayor continued and stated the second concern he has is about reclamation. There
were two different kinds of information provided earlier. One was that reclamation was to be
done in stages all the way up, and the other statement made was that reclamation would only be
done at the lower stage. He stated he would like to see it done all the way up the hill. He stated
he is also concerned about regional impact on neighbors and whether or not that issue has been
addressed properly. The Mayor stated he also does not know what to make of the seasonal high
water monitoring. Councilor Remy stated the applicant has indicated seasonal high water table
monitoring would be measured during spring prior to the commencement of work and digging
would remain six feet above where the water table is located.

Mr. Kost stated he was not sure about visual impact and what someone will see when driving
into Keene. He stated he understands there are three different visual areas that were identified as
sensitive and asked for Staff clarification that this operation would not be in one of those areas.
Mr. Clements stated this site is not in the sensitive visual areas as articulated in the Land
Development Code for Earth Excavation.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni asked Staff to expand on what Mr. Clements meant by “articulated” and if a
person would see the cliff. Ms. Fortson referred to the Telecommunications Ordinance in Article
13 of the Land Development Code, which divides properties in Keene into three different
viewsheds. Viewsheds one and two are considered more important areas than viewshed three.
This property is in viewshed three and is considered to have lower restrictions.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni, with reference to trucks entering and exiting, asked whether there was any
plan to add a pull-off, which would be safer, but noted this is a State Route.

Chair Farrington asked for added clarification regarding Viewsheds.

Ms. Fortson referred Article 25.1.2.c.3 - Earth Excavation Regulations. Ms. Fortson stated land
areas identified as zone one or zone two in the view preservation overlay are not allowed to be
developed as a gravel pit, unless the applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Planning
Board that the proposed operation will not be visible from vistas or public rights of way in the
City. This parcel does not fall into zone one or two. Councilor Remy clarified that this operation
can be visible from the road under the City of Keene regulations because it is located in zone
three.

Chair Farrington referred to the motion to continue and noted the Board is likely to request a
confirmed traffic analysis, rendering of the reclamation, and decide on the regional impact issue.
Councilor Remy stated the Board already has a traffic study from 2022. With respect to regional
impact, the City has notified the surrounding towns as to this operation. As far as renderings, this
is not an area the applicant needs to hide from the road. He noted the applicant is planning to
reclaim every step but there is not much you can do about ledge face.

Page 16 of 23
18 of 70



740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
7T
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Mr. Hoefer stated what he was indicating is that if the Board wanted to continue it needs to be
clear as to what it is looking for from the applicant. He further felt the traffic study should be
accepted as is and felt the applicant was testifying to what they believe the traffic would be
coming in and out of this site.

Ms. Vezzani stated she would like to move on a vote tonight and not continue the item, as all
parties are present tonight. She stated the issue with the wells concerns her and felt it has not
been addressed adequately by the applicant.

The motion to continue failed on a 2-8 vote, with Mayor Kahn and Roberta Mastrogiovanni
voting in favor.

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve a waiver from
Section 25.3.1.D of the LDC to allow the excavation perimeter to be within 250 feet, but not less
than 75 feet of surface water resources. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy.

Mayor Kahn stated Staff has found that the design at the 75-foot distance is satisfactory and is
inclined to approve this waiver.
The waiver for the surface water setback carried on a unanimous vote.

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve a waiver from
Section 25.3.6 of the LDC to allow excavation of bedrock where bedrock contains toxic or acid
forming elements or compounds. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy.

Councilor Remy stated given the fact the third-party consultant was comfortable with this plan
and was satisfied with the requests he was in waiver of approving this waiver.

The waiver for excavation of bedrock where bedrock contains toxic or acid forming elements or
compounds carried on an 8-2 vote, with Mayor Kahn and Sarah Vezzani voting in opposition.

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve a waiver from
Section 25.3.13 of the LDC to allow a maximum excavation area of 12 acres. The motion was
seconded by Councilor Remy.

The Mayor questioned what justifies the expanded 12-acre site. Councilor Remy explained the
applicant is permitted to have up to 12 acres un-reclaimed. The site down at the base of the hill is
five acres now and they are going to leave that un-reclaimed, while they do work in other areas
which are five acres and up to a seven-acre sections in one of the zones. They will leave the five
acres open, which would be the last area reclaimed.

The waiver to have up to 12 acres un-reclaimed carried on a unanimous vote.

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-20 as
shown on the plan set identified as ‘Gravel and Earth Removal Plan; G2 Holdings, LLC’
prepared by Granite Engineering at varying scales on December 20, 2024 and last revised on
August 22, 2025 with the following conditions:

Page 17 of 23
19 of 70



788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the
following conditions precedent shall be met:

a.

b.
C.

Owner’s signature shall appear on the title page and overview plan on Sheet 1 of
the plan set.

Submittal of five (5) full size paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan set.
Submittal of security for sedimentation and erosion control, stormwater
management, and reclamation for the first permit period of work to be completed.
The applicant or owner shall pay all outstanding third party consultant fees.
Submittal of all approved state and federal permits. The approval numbers for
these permits shall be added to the cover sheet of the plan set.

The requested waivers and conditional use permits with results shall be added to
the cover sheet.

2. Subsequent to final approval, the following conditions shall be met:

a.

Erosion control, sedimentation control, and drainage management shall be
installed before any site preparation and/or excavation work begins and shall be
maintained in good working order during the excavation project.
Over the life of the excavation permit and any renewal thereof, the applicant shall
provide monthly inspections by a qualified third party licensed professional in the
state of NH regarding erosion and sedimentation control, PH, and stormwater
runoff. Reports for these inspections shall be submitted to the Community
Development Department.
Over the life of the excavation permit and any renewal thereof, in accordance with
Section 25.3.4.C of the LDC the applicant shall monitor ground water levels and
surface water levels on a monthly basis to determine the extent to which there are
any adverse impacts.
i.  The applicant shall notify the Community
Development Department within 24-hours of any adverse impacts on
ground water levels.

ii.  The applicant shall implement the approved protocol
for providing replacement water supplies for water supplies that are
disrupted as a result of the excavation operations.

In accordance with Section 25.3.3 of the LDC, a monitoring well shall be installed
in the area of Period 1 in Spring 2026 to confirm the seasonal high water table
conditions.

In accordance with Section 25.3.3 of the LDC, seasonal high water level
monitoring shall be completed in bedrock well BRW-09 prior to the
commencement of work in Permit Period 8 and throughout the duration of work
within this phase to confirm that the revised grades are at least 6-ft above the
water table.

In accordance with Section 25.3.5.C of the LDC, ongoing monitoring of ground
water quality shall be conducted semi-annually throughout the term of the permit
and any renewal thereof, and for a period of not less than 2-years following the
cessation of excavation activities and reclamation of the excavation site.

Six months prior to the commencement of work for the next permit period, the
property owner shall submit a Permit Renewal application for review and
approval by the Planning Board and sufficient security to cover the cost of

Page 18 of 23
20 of 70



835
836
837
838
839
840
841
842
843
844
845
846
847
848
849
850
851
852
853
854
855
856
857
858
859
860
861
862
863
864
865
866
867
868
869
870
871
872
873
874
875
876
877
878
879
880
881
882

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

sedimentation and erosion control, stormwater management, and reclamation for
the next permit period of work to be completed.

h. Excavation activities shall only occur between the hours of 7:00 am and 5:00 pm,
Monday through Friday.

i. The area of un-reclaimed, inactive, and active excavation area shall not exceed 12
acres.

j. Atthe end of all excavation operations, the site shall be reclaimed and monitored
in accordance with Section 25.4 of the Land Development Code.

The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy.

Councilor Remy stated quarry mining is an inconvenience to abutters. He stated he could not
think of a better location than the one the applicant has chosen especially because woods
surround it.

The Mayor felt the owners have done a good job in answering the questions the Board has raised.
The concern he has is with regional impact and needing to protect the region’s highway, which is
Route 9. He stated the sight view does not bother him as much as the traffic effect, which would
be negative issue for the region and stated he would vote accordingly.

Mr. Hoefer talked about the necessity for projects such as this, which help with local
construction. He felt the strict regulations the City has would make sure this project operates
according to property standards and stated he would vote in favor.

Mr. Kost stated having a thorough engineering study from the applicant and a thorough third
party engineering review would help his decision.

Ms. Vezzani stated the applicant has made an effort to provide the necessary information the
Board needs to review this application. She stated that based on the regional impact she is not
inclined to vote to approve this application. She stated if this item does move forward, she
advised the public that the applicant is required to notify the public, present the data for the pre-
water monitoring 45 days prior, and then follow up with the results two years after excavation
cessation. She felt this provides for a lot of water monitoring in the future, which will provide
some comfort for her.

Chair Farrington stated he always looks for ways to approve projects that come before the Board.
He stated the Board has a responsibility to protect and have smart growth in the City. The Chair
stated each project is reviewed carefully and this project in particular has quite a few conditions
and the applicant has addressed all his conditions as it pertains to this application.

The motion carried on a 4-4 vote with Mayor Kahn, Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Armando Rangel,
and Sarah Vezzani voting against the motion.

Mr. Clements stated this vote is a denial.

Mr. Cole stated there was no motion to deny, but rather that the motion to approve did not pass.
Chair Farrington explained a tie vote is equivalent to a denial. Ms. Fortson referred to Section
5.2 of the Planning Board’s rules of Procedure, which specifies what happens in the case of a tie
vote - in the case of a tie vote on any motion or recommendation, said motion or

Page 19 of 23
21 0f 70



883
884
885
886
887
888
889
890
891
892
893
894
895
896
897
898
899
900
901
902
903
904
905
906
907
908
909
910
911
912
913
914
915
916
917
918
919
920
921
922
923
924
925
926
927
928
929
930

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

recommendation shall be deemed defeated. Mr. Cole agreed the motion did not pass but the
Board will need to make a motion to deny, continue the motion, or ask for additional items, etc.
The Chair stated that is not how the Board has operated in the past. Mr. Cole in response stated
this would be against State rules.

Councilor Remy stated if the Board is not taking making a decision tonight, he would default to
the position Mr. Cole is taking which is that the motion on the table was defeated, which is
traditionally Robert’s Rules. There is now no motion on the table. The Board could then move to
a continuance if that would help figure out what else is needed.

Mr. Clements stated, for the sake of at least attempting to take an action on this application
tonight, perhaps a motion to deny would be germane and then if that is tied again then continue
the motion. The Chair suggested considering what Councilor Remy suggested and continuing
this application.

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board reconsider the continuance of
moving the public hearing for PB 2024-20 to the Planning Board scheduled for September 29th,
2025 at 6:30 PM in City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers. The motion was seconded by Chair
Farrington.

Mr. Hoefer stated he would like to reiterate his earlier statement that if the Board is going to
reconsider, that the Board needs to have new information available when they meet again in
September.

Mayor Kahn stated he would like to see an updated traffic impact report. He also stated he would
like to have an overview of the City’s responsibilities as it pertains to regional impact.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated she would like clarification on zone 3. Ms. Fortson referred to Article
13 of the Land Development Code, which states that the view preservation overlay map that
defines the three zones was dated March 2019. The Land Development Code did not go into
effect until September of 2021, so it predates the adoption of the Land Development Code.

Ms. Vezzani stated she would like to see that the applicant go back to the individuals who were
affected regionally, and that she would like to see data provided on whether or not those claims
are valid. Chair Farrington stated anyone who was impacted was unlikely to have been impacted
by the 2022 dig. The Chair did not feel this was information the Board could require. Ms.
Vezzani stated how can regional impact be determined if the Board cannot be provided this
information. Mr. Hoefer stated the Board has met its regional impact requirements because the
City has informed the region that this project is happening and invited them to be a part of the
process. Ms. Vezzani stated regional impact is a subjective term and there might be minimum
requirements that you need to meet to alleviate that for some people, and it is going to be
different for others. She indicated this one is different for her. There was a discussion between
members as to the Board’s role in regional impact; subsequently, it was stated that regional
impact only requires a communication through a notice to let the communities designated as
being impacted know what is happening.

Mr. Clements stated he would like to remind the Board that their responsibility is to weigh the
merits of this application based on the regulations that are before the Board outlined in the Land
Development Code. The Board has already decided that the three deviations from the regulations

Page 20 of 23
22 of 70



931
932
933
934
935
936
937
938
939
940
941
942
943
944
945
946
947
948
949
950
951
952
953
954
955
956
957
958
959
960
961
962
963
964
965
966
967
968
969
970
971
972
973
974
975
976
977

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

are acceptable for this application and approved those waivers. To then turn around and not act
on this application as a whole, where you have already said that these deviations are acceptable,
1s moving outside of the Board’s role in this process. He stated he understands and appreciates
the concern for neighbors and abutting communities. However, the Board’s responsibility this
evening is to look at the application and the materials submitted and reviewed by the third party
consultants and determine whether they meet the standards. Then make a decision whether the
application meets those standard or not.

Mayor Kahn stated the Board was provided a lot of information tonight and even though the
Board is supposed to make a decision based on the standards outlined in the LDC, he was not
focusing on the motion as there was a lot more information that has been provided, especially the
traffic information provided in December.

With that, the Board voted on the following motions:

A motion was made to reconsider a continuation of project PB-2024-20 and carried on a
unanimous vote.

A motion to continue project PB-2024-20 to September carried on a unanimous vote.

Councilor Remy requested the City Attorney be present at the next meeting.

Mr. Cole clarified information the applicant needed to provide for next meeting:

Unlikelihood of sediment in wells.

Resubmit the traffic study that was submitted in December. Chair Farrington stated this is the
information he recalls and added if there were different traffic information provided to Sullivan
the Board would like to see that information as well.

Ms. Fortson stated Staff wanted to make sure that it is very clear for the applicant what the Board
is asking them to come to this next meeting with. If the Board is requesting the applicant to
provide data related to wells, she wanted to make sure those are wells are within the City of
Keene. If they are not, then that is outside the purview of this Planning Board.

However, if the Board wanted updated traffic data that would be within the Board’s purview to
ask for updated information related to that. She added that although this is a development of
regional impact, as was noted by Chair Farrington, that really only affords the Regional Planning
Commission and any adjacent municipalities additional notice by the Planning Board. The
purview that the Board has over this project falls within the jurisdiction of the City of Keene, not
Sullivan or anywhere else.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni asked whether the State portion has anything to do with Keene with
reference to traffic. Ms. Fortson stated the state reviewed and approved the street access permit,
and the state is not going to review anything related to potential traffic generation or traffic
impacts because of the use. Ms. Clements added the state looks at what operation is being
connected to the state right of way. They evaluate the use of the property when they issue a
driveway permit.

Page 21 of 23
23 0f 70



978
979
980
981
982
983
984
985
986
987
988
989
990
991
992
993
994
995
996
997
998
999
1000
1001
1002
1003
1004
1005
1006
1007
1008
1009
1010
1011
1012
1013
1014
1015
1016
1017
1018
1019
1020
1021
1022
1023
1024

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
August 25, 2025

Attorney Ice stated she would like to point out that a special hearing would need to be scheduled
on this item as the regulations indicate that a decision needs to be made in 20 days after the
hearing. The Chair disagreed and felt it is continued to the next Planning Board meeting.

Ms. Fortson referred to page 324 of the LDC says that within 20 calendar days following the
closing of the public hearing at the Planning Board shall approve with conditions or disapprove
of this application. Notice of the decision shall be provided to the applicant in writing.

The Chair stated he would leave it up to Staff to work with the applicant on a special hearing
date.

V1) Master Plan Steering Committee Referral: 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan — The
Master Plan Steering Committee voted to recommend that the Planning Board set a public
hearing date for the adoption of the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan, and refer the plan to City
Council to endorse.

Chair Farrington addressed this item. He stated that the Steering Committee has completed its
ad-hoc efforts and has referred the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan to the Planning Board to do
two things. The first is to set a public hearing and at that meeting, a vote will be taken to approve
or not approve the masterplan. The next is to refer the master plan to City Council for
endorsement.

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board refer the 2025 Comprehensive
Master Plan to City Council for endorsement.
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved.

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board set a public hearing for the
adoption of the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan for Monday September 29, 2025 at 6:30 PM.
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved.

VI1I) Correspondence
a) Letter from Ariane Ice dated August 8%

No action was taken on this item

VI11) Staff Updates

None
IX) New Business

IX) Upcoming Dates of Interest
* Special Planning Board Meeting — September 8th, 5:30 PM
» Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD — September 8th, 6:30 PM
* Planning Board Steering Committee — September 16th, 12:00 PM
* Planning Board Site Visit — September 24th, 8:00 AM — To Be Confirmed

Page 22 of 23
24 of 70



1025
1026
1027
1028
1029
1030
1031
1032
1033
1034

PB Meeting Minutes
August 25, 2025

* Planning Board Meeting — September 29th, 6:30 PM

There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 9:51 PM.

Respectfully submitted by,
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker

Reviewed and edited by,

Emily Duseau, Planning Technician

Page 23 of 23

DRAFT

25 of 70



~NOoO ol hs W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29

DRAFT

City of Keene
New Hampshire

PLANNING BOARD
MEETING MINUTES

Monday, September 8, 2025 5:30 PM Council Chambers,
City Hall

Members Present: Staff Present:

Harold Farrington, Chair Paul Andrus, Community Development

Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair Director

Mayor Jay V. Kahn Mari Brunner, Senior Planner

Councilor Michael Remy Evan Clements, Planner

Sarah Vezzani Megan Fortson, Planner

Armando Rangel

Ryan Clancy

Kenneth Kost
Michael Hoefer, Alternate

Members Not Present:
Randyn Markelon, Alternate
Tammy Adams, Alternate
Stephon Mehu, Alternate

1) Call to Order

Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 5:30 PM and a roll call was taken. Mr. Hoefer
was asked to join the meeting as a voting member.

I1) Boundary Line Adjustment

a) PB-2025-16 — Boundary Line Adjustment — 124-126 & 130 Eastern Ave —
Applicant HG Johnson Real Estate, on behalf of owner Bishop 2024 Revocable Family Trust,
proposes to transfer ~0.22-ac of land from the ~0.57-ac parcel at 130 Eastern Ave to the ~0.95-ac
parcel at 124-126 Eastern Ave (TMP#s 588-031-000 & 588-032-000). Both parcels are located
in the Low Density District.

A. Board Determination of Completeness
Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has requested an exemption from submitting separate
existing and proposed condition plans and all technical reports. After reviewing each request,
Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions
would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the
application as complete.

Page 1 of 16
26 of 70



30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board accept Application PB-
2025-16 as complete. The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was
unanimously approved.

B. Public Hearing
Mr. George Hansel of HG Johnson Real Estate addressed the Board on behalf of applicant Terry
Bishop. Mr. Hansel explained that all parcels in question have the same owner. The request is to
adjust the property line at the rear of the parcel and add 0.22 acres from one parcel to the other.
No new development is being proposed but the property owner is looking to add a ground
mounted solar array and would like more space on one of the properties. If the plan for the solar
array moves forward, which is not an item before the Board tonight, that too would need to
comply with the City’s regulations as it would relate to that kind of development.

He referred to the plan in which these parcels are located next to each other. There are some
wetlands, which have been delineated on this plan. The wetlands are in the opposite section of
the area that the boundary line is going to be adjusted.

Mr. Hansel referred to Section 20.2.1 — Zoning District Dimensional Requirements — and noted
this adjustment is not going to create any non-compliance. The lots will be in compliance after
the adjustment.

Section 20.2.2 — Character of the Land: Mr. Hansel noted the only character of land issue that
could be contemplated are wetlands. However, because the wetlands are located on the opposite
side of one of the lots it is not really affected. The applicant does not feel it is applicable.

Section 20.2.3 - Scattered or Premature Development: This section is to make sure there is
adequate infrastructure for a subdivision, however, no such development is being proposed here.
Both lots are serviced by city water and sewer and are also serviced by Eversource.

Section 20.2.4 — Preservation of Existing Features: None of the features are going to be changed
as a result of this adjustment.

Section 20.2.6 — Special Flood Hazard Area: Property is not located in a flood zone.

Section 20.2.7 — Fire Protection and Water Supply: Property is connected to City water and no
part of this application would require fire protection

Section 20.2.8 — Utilities: Property has city utilities.

This concluded Mr. Hansel’s comments.

Applicant Terry Bishop stated the plan is to produce nearly 750,000-Kilowatt hours of electricity
into the power grid that they would share. He stated he is waiting for to hear about this new high
efficiency chip, which would produce more kilowatt hours.

Staff comments were next. Mr. Evans addressed the Board and stated the subject parcels are
located on the east side of Eastern Avenue in southeastern Keene, approximately 1,700 feet from
the Marlboro Street intersection to the South and 350 feet from the Bellevue intersection to the

Page 2 of 16
27 of 70



78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

north. The property at 124 and 126 Eastern Avenue contains an existing three-unit multifamily
building, an existing single-family building, a carport shed and associated site improvements.
There is also a stream that runs along the northwest corner of the parcel under Eastern Avenue.
The property at 130 Eastern Avenue contains an existing single-family building, detached
garage, shed and other improvements.

He noted the purpose of this application is to transfer 0.22 acres of land from 130 Eastern
Avenue to 124 and 126 Eastern Avenue. No development is being proposed at this time as part
of this application.

The parcel at 130 Eastern Avenue is 0.57 acres in size and the parcel at 124 and 126 Eastern
Avenue is 0.99 acres. Following the transfer of land, both lots will continue to comply with all
zoning dimensional requirements for the low-density district.

The end parcel size, after the transfer will leave 124 and 126 Eastern Avenue at 1.21 acres in size
and 130 Eastern Avenue at 0.34 Acres in size.

Mr. Clements noted, as indicated by the applicant, the character of land for the subdivision is
described as gently sloping towards Eastern Avenue with a low point located in the northern
edge of 124 and 126 where that stream is located. A portion of the stream is located on the corner
of the parcel itself and has been delineated by a licensed wetland scientist. A 30-foot wetland
buffer is shown on the plan. This standard appears to be met.

With reference to scattered or premature development, both parcels contain existing developed
residential uses with access to city water and sewer. This standard has been met.

Preservation of existing features — Mr. Clements stated there are no impacts to existing site
features as no additional development is proposed. This standard has been met.

Monumentation — the submitted plan shows the boundaries will be marked using a 5/8 inch
capped rebar post, which will be set in all corners and there is a condition of approval related to
the inspection of that lot.

Special Flood Hazard Area — This standard is not applicable as neither of the parcels are in a
special flood hazard.

Fire Protection, Water Supply and Utilities — These standards are also not applicable as
everything is fully developed with no additional development proposed.

Mr. Clements next reviewed the conditions of approval as outlined in the Board’s packet. Mr.
Clements stated Staff have made a preliminary determination that this project has no regional
impact. This concluded Staff comments.

Mayor Kahn asked whether the solar array would be sufficient to power all the properties the
applicant owns in the neighborhood. Mr. Bishop stated he would not be using solar but would be
selling it back to the grid.

As there was no public comment, the Chair closed the public hearing.

C. Board Discussion and Action

Page 3 of 16
28 of 70



126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB-2025-16 as
shown on the plan identified as “Boundary Line Adjustment Plan” prepared by Envirespect Land
Services, LLC at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet dated June 28, 2025 and last revised August 2025
with the following conditions precedent prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the
Planning Board Chair:

1. Owners’ signatures appear on the proposed BLA plan.

2. Submittal of two (2) mylar copies of the plans.

3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51 made out to the City of Keene to cover recording
fees.

4. Inspection of the lot monuments by the Public Works Director, or their designee, following
their installation, or the submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Public
Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set.

The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy.
The Councilor agreed this is not a regional impact project and felt it was a straightforward
project.

The motion made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni carried on a unanimous vote.

I11) Public Hearings

a) PB-2025-15 — Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit — Barn Conversion, 429 EIm
St — Applicant HG Johnson Real Estate, on behalf of owner JC&C Rentals LLC, proposes to
convert a barn into 2 dwelling units on the property at 429 EIm St (TMP# 520-005- 000). The
parcel is ~0.48-ac and is located in the Low Density District.

A. Board Determination of Completeness
Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting separate
existing and proposed conditions plan, a grading plan, a lighting plan, a landscaping plan, and all
technical reports. Staff recommend that the Board grant these exemptions and accept the
application as complete.

Ms. Vezzani stated she lived close to this property and asked the Board if she should recuse
herself from voting on this application. Ms. Brunner asked Ms. Vezzani to clarify whether or not
she lives 200 feet from this property and Ms. Vezzani answered in the negative. The Board did
not feel it was necessary for Ms. Vezzani to be recused.

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn that the Planning Board accept Application PB-2025-15 as
complete. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved.

B. Public Hearing
Mr. Hansel of HG Johnson Real Estate addressed the Board and introduced Mr. Joe Bagster,
applicant. Mr. Hansel stated this application is for a Cottage Court Overlay District project. He
stated this was a Cottage Court development built in the 30’s and is a legal non-conforming use
right now. Mr. Hansel noted to this property on a plan located on EIm Street. It is an existing lot
that has multiple single-family buildings on it. The request is to convert an existing garage/barn
into two new apartments. There is sufficient parking already on the site. The site has about eight

Page 4 of 16
29 of 70



173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

parking spots, which would allow two more apartments to be added and have one spot per
apartment on the entire lot with two extra spots.

Mr. Hansel went on to say the overlay district allows for single-family duplex and triplex uses in
the low-density district. There are not many changes being proposed to the outside of the
property, most of the work would be to the interior to create the two new units. The three garage
overhead doors will be removed and replaced with traditional door entrances for the apartments.
Storage areas are also going to be added, and the dormers are going to be expanded to get a little
more headroom on the second floor. The two curb cuts and the loop configuration will remain.

The dwelling size standard allows for a maximum average unit size of 1,250 square feet and a
maximum building footprint of 900 square feet per unit. Mr. Hansel stated this project, both with
the existing and the new proposed units, is going to have an average unit size of 900 square feet
and an average footprint of 637 square feet, which will fall below the maximum in the standard.

Parking — The standard requires a minimum of one parking space per unit and a maximum of one
parking space per bedroom. There are eight existing parking spots on the site. Those eight spots
will be shared between the five units and nine total bedrooms. This application, if approved,
would fall into compliance with the standard.

Building Separation — All buildings exist. The applicant is not proposing any new buildings or
expanding the footprint of any of the existing buildings. The applicant would need to apply for a
building permit if this application is approved, which would address any life safety issues.

No modifications are being proposed for the driveways.
There are no internal roads being proposed.

Screening — No changes are being proposed to the exterior of the buildings. Hence, screening
doesn’t apply.

Architectural Guidelines — Standard 17.5.4. — Minimal exterior changes. The only change being
proposed is that the applicant is replacing the garage doors and changing the windows to more
modern energy efficient windows, which Mr. Hansel noted is not a substantial change.

Mr. Hansel noted in his application that he has indicated the proposal would be four additional
units, which he indicated is a typographic error. The addition is only two units.

Mr. Hansel felt this type of additional housing would help with the housing crisis the City is
experiencing. This concluded Mr. Hansel’s presentation and turned the presentation over to the
applicant.

Mr. Joe Bagster addressed the Board and stated he would reiterate what Mr. Hansel stated that
this type of housing would address the shortage of housing in the City.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated this was a great idea and stated she has been to this property in the
past and the only issue she has is that tenants seem to block the driveway, which makes it
difficult to get in and out of the property.

Page 5 of 16
30 of 70



221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

Mr. Clancy asked for the square footage of the front unit. Mr. Hansel stated the average is about
900 square feet per unit.

The Chairman asked whether a bathroom needs to be added to the barn. Mr. Hansel stated the
site is currently serviced by City water and sewer and the applicant is looking to see if that line
could be extended or if it needs to be replaced; this will be decided during the building permit
process.

Mayor Kahn asked if each unit would have its own staircase. Mr. Hansel stated each unit would
have its own entry as required by the building code. Mr. Hansel referred to page 22 showing the
three doorways in the front. One of those areas would be a common area (laundry, storage), the

one in the middle would access the unit upstairs, and the other would access the unit downstairs.

Staff comments were next.

Mr. Clements addressed the Board and stated the subject parcel is an existing 0.48-acre lot
located on the eastern side of EIm Street, directly across the street from Fuller Elementary
School and about 333 feet from the Timberlane Drive Intersection.

The parcel contains three detached single-family residences, as well as a shed and a barn.
Improvements include a U-shaped gravel driveway with two street access connections.

The purpose of this application is to convert the existing approximately 1,120 square foot barn
into a duplex with a two bed and one bath unit and a one bed and one bath unit. This will
increase the total count of residential units on the property to five. The property contains eight
parking spaces where only five parking spaces are required. He added there is no proposed
alteration to the site besides the barn conversion, and this project does not meet the threshold for
major site plan review.

Regional Impact — Mr. Clements stated that after reviewing the application, Staff have made a
preliminary evaluation that the proposed duplex does not appear to have the potential for
regional impact; the Board will need to make a final determination on that.

He went on to say that the duplex is an allowed development type according to the table in the
Cottage Court ordinance in the Low Density District.

The three existing detached single-family units were constructed between 1936 and 1940.

The existing development of the site is considered legal non-conforming, as the applicant
explained, because multiple principal uses are not normally allowed on a single lot in a
residential zoning district. Approval of this Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit will bring the
property into conformance with the City’s zoning regulations in terms of allowed uses. All
requirements appear to be met.

Regarding dwelling unit size, this standard requires a maximum of 1,250 square feet gross floor
area and a maximum building footprint of 900 square feet per unit. The proposed project will
result in an average ground floor area of 900 square feet per unit with five dwelling units. Total
building footprint of all existing buildings is approximately 3,185 square feet, with an average
building footprint size of 637 square feet per unit.

Mr. Clements added that each building footprint appears to be less than the required 900 square
feet, so this standard has been met.

Page 6 of 16
310f 70



269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

The parking standard requires a minimum of one parking space per unit and a maximum of one
parking space per bedroom. Each unit within the property has access to one of the eight existing
parking spaces on site. This standard has been met.

Building separation — All buildings already exist. The conversion of the barn to a duplex will
require a building permit application that meets all applicable building, fire and life safety codes.
This standard has been met.

Driveways — The property contains an existing driveway, which appears to be at least 20 feet
wide to accommodate vehicular traffic to parking areas. The standard appears to be met.
Internal roads — There are no internal roads, hence this standard does not apply.

Screening — The standard says that either a six-foot tall fence or a landscape buffer is required
for screening. If the proposed building type, not density, is more intense than the adjacent
building type. The proposed conversion is an existing barn into a duplex with no significant
changes.

The overall site does not appear to constitute a more intense building type to the surrounding
property. Staff believe that this standard does not apply.

Architectural Guidelines — Mr. Clements stated the applicant has clearly articulated the intent to
maintain a New England vernacular that already exists at the proposed site and surrounding area.
He suggested the Board have its own deliberation on this issue.

Mr. Clements reviewed the conditions of approval included in the Board packet.
This concluded the staff comments.

The Chair asked for public comment. With no comments for the Board, the Chair closed the
public hearing.

C. Board Discussion and Action

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni approve PB-2024-15 as shown on the site plan
identified as “429 Elm Street, Keene” prepared by H.G. Johnson Real Estate at a scale of 1 inch
= 15’8” dated July 8, 2025 and in the application materials received July 9 2025, and August 4,
2025, with the following conditions:
1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following
conditions shall be met:

a. Owner’s signature appears on the site plan.

b. Submittal of five (5) paper copies and one digital copy of the site plan.

The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy.

Councilor Remy stated this project does not qualify for regional impact and agreed with Staff
that this project looks similar to the existing property. He felt the proposal is a better use of an
existing structure and felt it was a great application.

Ms. Vezzani stated she agreed with Councilor Remy and felt it was a great addition to the
neighborhood.

Page 7 of 16
32 0f 70



317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

Mayor Kahn felt it is going to be difficult to maintain a vernacular look that resembles the
existing units on site. He asked whether there would be some process by which Staff would be
reviewing a final plan, which shows the intended finish so that look has some kind of review post
approval.

Mr. Clements stated this application is different in that it is a commercial site plan with a visual
architectural analysis, which is essentially a collection of single-family and two-family
structures.

He indicated the Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit gives some sort of guidelines on
architectural appearance. He stated this duplex is not going to be reviewed under the Planning
Board’s architectural and visual appearance standards because this is not a major site plan review
and doesn’t meet the threshold for that type of review. He added if a condition was to be added
regarding final visual appearance, it might be too subjective for Staff to make a determination
on. Staff does not have a clear set of regulations to compare that final product to. He stated an
option would be to require architectural elevations and renderings of the final barn, which would
increase time and cost for the applicant and would probably require the Board to continue the
application to another meeting to give them time to put that together. The Mayor did not feel that
was necessary.

The motion made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni was unanimously approved.

IV) Continued Public Hearing

a) PB-2024-20 — Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection
Conditional Use Permit — Gravel Pit, 21 & 57 Route 9 — Applicant Granite Engineering LLC,
on behalf of owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel pit located at 21 &
57 Route 9 (TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection CUP is requested for
impacts to steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Sections 25.3.1.D, 25.3.6, and 25.3.13 of the
LDC related to the 250’ surface water resource setback, toxic or acid forming materials, and the
5-ac excavation area maximum. The parcels are a combined ~109.1-ac in size and are located in
the Rural District.

Public Hearing
Mr. Manley stated that during the last meeting at the two hour and nine minute mark, the
Chairman closed the public hearing.

Senior Planner Mari Brunner reminded the Board that this was not a public hearing, and no
public comment was being taken tonight. The Chair noted the public hearing was closed at the
last meeting and the Board will be continuing its deliberation tonight. He stated he would like to
start the deliberation with a motion.

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-20
for an Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment and Hillside Conditional Use Permit as
shown on the plan set identified as ‘Gravel and Earth Removal Plan; G2 Holdings, LLC’
prepared by Granite Engineering at varying scales on December 20, 2024 and last revised on
August 22, 2025 with the following conditions:

Page 8 of 16
330f 70



364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the
following conditions precedent shall be met:

a.

b.

g.
h.

Owner’s signature shall appear on the title page and overview plan on Sheet 1 of
the plan set.

Submittal of five (5) full size paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan set
in pdf format.

Submittal of security for sedimentation and erosion control, stormwater
management, and reclamation for the first permit period of work to be completed.
The applicant or owner shall pay all outstanding third-party consultant fees.

Submittal of all approved state and federal permits. The approval numbers for
these permits shall be added to the cover sheet of the plan set.

The requested waivers and conditional use permits with results shall be added to
the cover sheet.

2. Subsequent to final approval, the following conditions shall be met:

a.

Erosion control, sedimentation control, and drainage management shall be
installed before any site preparation and/or excavation work begins and shall be
maintained in good working order during the excavation project.
Over the life of the excavation permit and any renewal thereof, the applicant shall
provide monthly inspections by a qualified third party licensed professional in the
state of NH regarding erosion and sedimentation control, PH, and stormwater
runoff. Reports for these inspections shall be submitted to the Community
Development Department.
Over the life of the excavation permit and any renewal thereof, in accordance with
Section 25.3.4.C of the LDC the applicant shall monitor ground water levels and
surface water levels on a monthly basis to determine the extent to which there are
any adverse impacts.
i.  The applicant shall notify the Community
Development Department within 24-hours of any adverse impacts on
ground water levels.

ii.  The applicant shall implement the approved protocol
for providing replacement water supplies for water supplies that are
disrupted as a result of the excavation operations.

In accordance with Section 25.3.3 of the LDC, a monitoring well shall be installed
in the area of Period 1 in Spring 2026 to confirm the seasonal high water table
conditions.

In accordance with Section 25.3.3 of the LDC, seasonal high water level
monitoring shall be completed in bedrock well BRW-09 prior to the
commencement of work in Permit Period 8 and throughout the duration of work
within this phase to confirm that the revised grades are at least 6-ft above the
water table.

In accordance with Section 25.3.5.C of the LDC, ongoing monitoring of ground
water quality shall be conducted semi-annually throughout the term of the permit
and any renewal thereof, and for a period of not less than 2-years following the
cessation of excavation activities and reclamation of the excavation site.

Page 9 of 16
34 0of 70



411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

g. Six months prior to the commencement of work for the next permit period, the
property owner shall submit a Permit Renewal application for review and
approval by the Planning Board and sufficient security to cover the cost of
sedimentation and erosion control, stormwater management, and reclamation for
the next permit period of work to be completed.

h. Excavation activities shall only occur between the hours of 7:00 am and 5:00 pm,
Monday through Friday.

i. The area of un-reclaimed, inactive, and active excavation area shall not exceed 12
acres.

J.  The boundary between the excavation perimeter and buffer area should be clearly
marked on the site for each permit period to avoid encroachment into the buffer
area. Buffer areas should not be used to store stumps, boulders, earth materials or
other debris in accordance with section 25.3.2 of LDC.

k. The boundary of approved setbacks from service water resources within the
excavation perimeter shall be clearly marked on the site to avoid encroachment

I. At the end of all excavation operations, the site shall be reclaimed using pollinator
friendly plantings and monitored in accordance with Section 25.4 of the Land
Development Code.

The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn

The Chairman noted because this application was reviewed over a period of a few months
whether the Board was adequately versed to vote on it.

Mr. Hoefer stated he has attended site visits, and meeting and was prepared to vote on the
application.

Mr. Kost stated he had also attended site visits, and meeting and was prepared to vote on the
application.

Councilor Remy stated he missed one meeting in March but had watched the video of that
meeting.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated she too was prepared to vote on this issue and did attend many of the
meetings, read all the notes and watched videos of the ones she wasn’t able to attend.

Mayor Kahn stated he was prepared to vote this evening.

Mr. Rangel stated he too was prepared to vote. He had attended all the meetings but was not able
to attend the site visit.

Ms. Vezzani was prepared to vote. She stated she reviewed notes and watched the video of the
meeting she missed.

Mr. Clancy stated he was prepared and ready to vote on this matter tonight.

Attorney Ice stated one of the alternate Board members who has voted previously on this project
is now removed from voting, which she felt was an issue. She noted that this alternate member,

Page 10 of 16
350f 70



459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

Mr. Hoefer, replaced a Board member at the March meeting and questioned if that Board
member can vote tonight. She indicated Mr. Hoefer replaced one of eight members so only eight
can vote. She stated the Board is allowed by statute to have nine Board members, but the Board
never appointed a 9™ member.

Ms. Brunner agreed that Attorney Ice did have a point. She stated because Mr. Hoefer has been
sitting on this matter from the beginning and has been at every meeting, he should continue to
vote this matter. She advised that the Chair ask one of the regular members here tonight to step
down and have Mr. Hoefer pick that spot for this vote. The Chair stated he would ask for
volunteers and otherwise he would name someone to step down. Mr. Clancy was recused from
this vote.

The Chair stated there are four additional conditions included in the packet and asked that the
Board discuss this first.

The first is a condition subsequent and it is regarding an addition to the reclamation regarding
planning native tree species. Councilor Remy stated he was in favor of this condition. He stated
there is already a lot of tree cover and did not feel the applicant would have to do too much to
comply with this condition. Ms. Vezzani stated she was comfortable with this condition.

The second condition was regarding traffic and has two parts: Part A and Part B. Mayor Kahn
stated as he has stated previously that safety is a concern to him on this route. He felt these traffic
considerations are modest and achievable by the owner. He noted Item A and that the current
traffic study outlines 74 trips to and from the site on a weekly basis. He felt what is being
proposed was a generous statement. He further stated the site has increased in size from the
original application of 10 acres to 12 acres. The situation with the eastbound direction is of
concern for site distances and other traffic safety measures. If the applicant is seeking the
guidance both for the updated driveway permit for the additional acres and to gain the best
recommendations from the party responsible for the safety on that highway, which is NHDOT,
this is an important additional condition.

Councilor Remy stated he agrees with Part A, however, for Part B, he stated he wasn’t sure if
requesting an updated driveway permit is what he would go for as much as perhaps submitting
notification to NHDOT that there has been a concern around the safety and the visibility around
this area and asking for their recommendations. He felt this could trigger a safety study for the
State and how they might make modifications to the road. He stated the applicant is not
necessarily expecting more traffic. However, if the Board has concerns about the current layout,
he felt it was appropriate for the applicant to send a letter to NHDOT with a copy to the City
indicating the concern that exists on this route and for DOT to investigate the issue. The
Councilor noted there is a sign that just says trucks entering on the eastbound side but felt
another sign around the corner could be helpful.

The Mayor in response stated he agrees with Councilor Remy and to make sure the sign is more
visible would be helpful. The Mayor noted the driveway permit request is because there is an
alteration to the plan and asked for clarification. Ms. Brunner stated her understanding is that the
New Hampshire Department of Transportation, which has jurisdiction over this road, requires a
driveway permit when the use expands or is enlarged. The applicant would have to reapply just
to make sure this is still an adequate driveway. She did not think DOT would necessarily require
anything, but it could give DOT another opportunity to just look at the driveway access points

Page 11 of 16
36 of 70



507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

and then let the applicant know if there is anything they could do to help improve safety. She felt
this is an avenue to have DOT provide some safety suggestions but added what Councilor Remy
has proposed would also work. She also suggested the Chair could give the applicant an
opportunity to weigh in on some of these conditions, as the applicant has not had an opportunity
to review the new proposed conditions.

Ms. Vezzani asked whether there was a cost for applying to the DOT for an updated driveway
permit compared to what Councilor Remy suggested. Ms. Brunner stated what Councilor Remy
suggested would not have a cost associated with it but wasn’t sure how much the driveway
permit would cost. Councilor Remy felt writing a letter would be at no cost and will also trigger
the state to review this area. The Chairman stated he agrees with Councilor Remy’s suggestion.

The Mayor felt the applicant should be the one initiating the correspondence with the state. He
also added that with a driveway permit, this might enable a justification for the department to
make these kinds of recommendations. He felt the idea was to link this with a process the
Planning Department has in place and to not create something different. He added it is a fact that
the trip generation has increased, and the driveway permit in place is based on less traffic.

The Mayor felt the motion is worded appropriately because it gives the Department of
Transportation the rationale as to why they ought to look at this issue. The Mayor did not feel
DOT has any basis to provide this kind of feedback without this kind of regulation in place. DOT
has given approval for a 10-acre site, and this is now a 12-acre proposal, which could require
additional mitigation.

Mr. Manley addressed the Board and noted as a point of order, Section 2.1 of the Board’s Rules
of Procedure states that the Planning Board is made-up of nine members consistent with state
law. The Chair stated Mr. Manley did not have standing.

Ms. Vezzani stated she would be in agreement with either one of the proposed suggestions.

Mr. Hoefer stated, with respect to the driveway permit, he understands the spirit for the request
and asked whether this is not something that the Board should have requested with the original
request to the applicant. He noted the Board was aware that the site was larger from the
beginning of this process.

Councilor Remy stated that according to what Staff has stated, if the applicant meets the
requirements of having had a change of use, they have to apply for an updated permit if there is
something that triggers the State to require one. He felt if the expanded use required the applicant
to obtain a new permit, they should be aware that this is State law and hence would need to work
with the State. He did not feel this is something the Board should require.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated with respect to traffic and the proposal of a mitigation strategy of
some kind, how does the City keep count of vehicles entering and exiting the site. She stated we
are expecting an increase to traffic and asked if that is the case, what the mitigation strategy
would be from Public Works. She added Route 9 is by far the most important artery into Keene
and it is always a busy artery. Route 9 is not wide enough and to hypothetically see 10-wheeler
dump trucks rolling off into that pit is a concern and wanted to make sure it is safe.

She felt a mitigation strategy and the proper discussion with the State would make sense for this
project.

Page 12 of 16
37 0of 70



555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

Mr. Kost questioned as of now whether there was an increase to traffic. He stated the number
appears to remain the same but just spread over more years. The Chairman agreed that this was
the information provided in the application.

The applicant’s representative, Mr. Cole, stated they would be willing to comply with either one
of the items being suggested by the Board.

The third condition was in reference to monitoring vibration during and after blasting. Mr.
Clancy stated that even though he is not voting on this matter, he is still part of deliberation on
this Board. In reviewing all documents and hearing Board’s concerns at the last meeting, he
wanted to make sure the Board had appropriate tools to address any issues that would arise. He
suggested having a third party monitor a baseline before a blast starts.

Mr. Kost, after having heard about foundation issues from abutters, agreed with what Mr. Clancy
had stated. He felt what is being proposed would provide opportunity to monitor the work.

Councilor Remy stated this is not his expertise but wanted to know the applicant’s position on
this; if they are not opposed to it, that would be ok. If not, it would need to be discussed further.

Attorney Ice felt this is a duplication. She indicated the Board’s packet has expert testimony,
which indicates that outside of % mile, there would not be any issues at all. She felt it was
overkill, but if this condition is needed to approve the application, the applicant agrees to it.

The next new condition was in reference to liability insurance. Attorney Ice stated the applicant
just learned of this condition. The applicant does not have issue with this, but it is usually the
blaster who carries insurance. She stated she wasn’t sure the applicant would be able to obtain
this type of insurance as they haven’t had time to look into it. The concern with this condition is
whether the applicant is going to be able to comply with it.

Councilor Remy stated the way he would interpret this language “the applicant shall maintain in
full force” — whether it is carried by the sub-contractor or the applicant, they are covered by that
insurance. Ms. Brunner stated in the motion the Board could clarify that language ““the applicant
or their blaster should hold the insurance”.

Ms. Vezzani stated, as someone who has some expertise in this field, she would recommend that
the Board leave it as the applicant shall maintain in full force commercial general liability policy
for $5,000,000 with the City of Keene as an additional insured. She further stated the company
that issues this $5,000,000 policy will require the applicant prove that the sub-contractor is also
carrying insurance.

With that the following amended motion was made by Councilor Remy:

m. The applicant shall plant native tree species in reclaimed areas as necessary to mitigate the
view of the excavation operation, cliff faces, and access roads visible from Route 9.

n. If traffic impacts to Route 9 exceed the proposed conditions of a maximum of 90 trips per day
ora

Page 13 of 16
38 0f 70



603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645
646
647
648

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

maximum of 8 trips per peak hour as stated in the traffic memorandum dated February 18, 2022,
a traffic management plan shall be required to evaluate and propose mitigation strategies.

This plan and proposed mitigation strategies shall be subject to review and approval by the
Public Works Director.

0. Due to the increase in size of the operation, the applicant shall apply to the New Hampshire
Department of Transportation for an updated driveway permit and shall communicate back to the
Board through city staff any New Hampshire DOT recommendations regarding vegetation
clearing all season, safe sight distance and any other recommended Traffic Safety measures.

p. All blasting activities shall comply with the vibration and air over pressure standards
established under NH Admin Rule Saf-C 1625.04 and any successor regulations.

g. Prior to the commencement of blasting, the applicant shall retain a licensed independent third-
party blasting consultant acceptable to the City of Keene. The consultant shall

i. Install seismographs at selected structures and locations within a two-mile radius of the
blast site with a focus on the closest residence as well as and other sensitive receptors.

ii. Record vibration and air over pressure levels for the first blast, event.

iii. Prepare and submit a certified monitoring report to the City of Keene Community
Development Department within 14 days of the blast.

r. If monitoring results indicate the vibration and air over pressure levels exceed allowable State
standards, the applicant shall:

i. Immediately cease further blasting until corrective measures are proposed, viewed and
approved by staff.

ii Conduct an additional round of third-party monitoring for the next scheduled blast, at
the applicant's expense.

s. All seismograph records for subsequent blast shall be retained by the blasting contractor for a
minimum of 12 months and be made available to the city upon request.

t. The applicant shall maintain in full force and effect a commercial general liability insurance
policy with coverage specifically endorsed for blasting and excavation activities, including
coverage for:

i. Damage to structures, wells and other properties resulting from vibration, error of
pressure, or fly rock.

ii. Contamination or degradation of groundwater or surface water attributable to the
excavation or blasting operations.

u. Coverage shall extend to claims by all property owners located within a two-mile radius of the
blast site and shall also apply to any persons or property impacted by groundwater or surface
water contamination within the affected watershed.

v. The policy shall provide no less than $5,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence and
shall name the City of Keene as an additional insured.

Page 14 of 16
39 0of 70



649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

w. Proof of insurance, including the blasting, environmental endorsements shall be submitted to
the Community Development Department, prior to the issuance of the excavation permit and
renewed annually.

X. The applicant shall be responsible for ensuring the claims under this policy are processed and
resolved promptly in the event of verified damage or contamination.

The motion to amend was seconded by Sarah Vezzani and carried on a unanimous vote.

Ms. Vezzani stated the Board has addressed the regional impact, gone through the application
with a fine toothcomb, added in appropriate adjustments and conditions to be able to move
forward with this application.

Mr. Rangel stated this still continues to be a difficult application and appreciates all the
additional work that has been put into this to add the additional conditions, which he felt would
help mitigate some of the concerns. However, he thought it might not address all concerns. There
are still those concerns about noise, drop in property values, historical site preservation, etc.

He felt the additional conditions do help to address some of the larger issues.

Mayor Kahn agreed the additional conditions, along with the reports Staff have collected from
expert land analysts, help approve this application. He felt there is regional impact, which the
Board had taken into consideration. He felt the concerns of the public could continue to be
evaluated by Staff and this Board.

Ms. Mastrogiovanni stated this is a difficult subject for both sides. She stated she appreciates all
the planning the applicant had to do and agreed we need gravel as has been indicated by the
State. She felt the process was a difficult one. There is regional impact, which the Board has
voted on. At the last meeting, there were concerns raised by the Board that were addressed at this
meeting. She indicated the Board has done its job and felt it is now up to the City to make sure
what is outlined in the conditions are being followed.

Councilor Remy stated he supported this item in August. He felt the new conditions should help
provide some comfort to the abutters. He felt these types of applications are always hard but felt
the Board has reached a good spot with this application.

Mr. Kost stated he too supported this application last month. He felt the items the Board controls
under the Land Development Code were addressed. He indicated the additional conditions make
it easier to continue to support this application. He added the monitoring of this site does have to
happen. He stated he would support this application.

Mr. Hoefer stated he was in favor of this application last meeting. He felt the Board’s process
was very thorough and noted that the City of Keene does have the strongest permit process in the
State. He stated the City brought in experts whose concerns have been addressed to protect
neighbors and the region.

Chair Farrington agreed with Mr. Hoefer that Keene does have a strong permit process as it
relates to this item. He stated the Board has learned from the applicant that there are items in the
code that could be modified.

Page 15 of 16
40 of 70



697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723

PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT
September 8, 2025

The motion to approve this application carried on a 7-1 vote with Mr. Rangel voting in
opposition.

V)  Staff Updates
None

V1) New Business
Chair Farrington stated there are Al tools available and they save time but cautioned the Board
in using Al to reach conclusion with applications that come before the Board.

VIl Upcoming Dates of Interest

* Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD — September 8th, 7:30 PM
* Planning Board Steering Committee — September 16th, 12:00 PM

* Planning Board Site Visit — September 24th, 8:00 AM — To Be Confirmed
* Planning Board Meeting — September 29th, 6:30 PM

There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 7:21 PM.

Respectfully submitted by,
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker

Reviewed and edited by,

Emily Duseau, Planning Technician

Page 16 of 16
41 of 70



K

CITY OF KEENE

NEW HAMPSHIRE

MEMORANDUM
TO: Planning Board
FROM: Community Development Staff
DATE: September 22,2025
SUBJECT: Agenda Item lII - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals

Recommendation:

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final
approval.”

Background:

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval”
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock.

As of the date of this packet, the following application is ready for final approval:
1. PB-2025-16 — Boundary Line Adjustment — 124-126 & 130 Eastern Ave

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.

3 Washington Street (603) 352-5440

Keene, NH 03431 KeeneNH.gov

42 of 70


https://keenenh.gov/planning-board

STAFF REPORT

APPEAL OF STREET ACCESS PERMIT EXCEPTION REQUEST - 15 CRESTVIEW ST

Request:

Applicants and owners, Christopher Jager & Brittany Hill, are requesting an appeal of a denied
Street Access Permit exception request from Section 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land Development Code
related to the allowed driveway width for single- and two-family homes. The parcel is ~0.22-ac in
size and is located in the Low Density District.

Background:

Located at the intersection of
Crestview St and Phil Ln, the
subject parcel at 15 Crestview
St (TMP #529-040-000) is
~0.22-ac in size and is located
in the Low Density District. The
property serves as the site of
an existing single-family home
with a pool and an attached
enclosed porch that was
previously used as a garage.

Owners, Christopher Jager &
Brittany Hill, are proposing to
expand their driveway to
include an additional parking
space to the south of the
existing enclosed porch. In
order to accommodate the
proposed design, the owners
are seeking an exception from
Section 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land
Development Code (LDC) to
allow for a driveway greater
than 20’-wide at the property
line.

In April 2025, a Street Access Permit exception request was submitted to the City Engineer’s
Office in accordance with Section 26.19.9 of the LDC. The application was denied due to the City
Engineer’'s determination that there are no unique characteristics of the land or property which
present a physical hardship to the requester.

The property owners are appealing the City Engineer’s decision to the Planning Board and are
entitled to a de novo (i.e. — “new”) review of the application and exception request in accordance
with Section 27.8 of the LDC. While the proposed driveway design has been slightly modified from
what was initially submitted to the City Engineer’s Office for review, the intent of the proposal is
largely still the same.

43 of 70



STAFF REPORT

Determination of Regional Impact:

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed Street
Access Permit exception request does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as
defined in RSA 36:55. The Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the
proposal, if approved, could have the potential for regional impact.

Completeness:

The applicant has not requested any exemptions from submittal items as part of this application.
Planning Staff recommend that the Planning Board accept the application as “complete.”

Departmental Comments:
1. Engineering Staff Comments.

a. Thisis adifferent proposed driveway widening design than what was previously submitted
with the original Street Access Permit exception request. With that said, this proposed
design still does not meet City Code for driveway width as outlined under Section
23.5.4.A.8 of the LDC.

2. It looks like the applicant is trying to keep the driveway 30’ long at the road and then is
proposing 41" wide at the property line (City code allows 20). If the Planning Board is
inclined to approve this driveway expansion, Public Works Department Staff's preference
would be to have the driveway squared off at the road to minimize the impacts of cars
driving over the grassy area between the road and the proposed driveway.

a. Similar to the previous denial, no information has been provided to demonstrate that this
property or land has unique characteristics that present a physical hardship to the
property owner in accordance with Section 23.5.6.C of the LDC.

APPLICATION ANALYSIS: The following is a review of the standards relevant to this application.

SECTION 9.3 — DRIVEWAY DESIGN STANDARDS:

Section 9.3.2 — Driveway Dimensions: This section of the code states that vehicle parking spaces
shall be a minimum of 8-wide by 18’ long, must be located to the rear of the front setback or front
building line, and must be set back a minimum of 3’ from the side property line. The property
owner is proposing to create an 8'x18’ parking space to the south of the existing enclosed porch
that will begin behind the front line of this structure and will be set back more than 3’ from the
southern property line as shown in Figure 2. This standard appears to be met.

Section 9.3.3 - Surface Material: This section of the code states that driveways and associated
parking spaces must be constructed using either concrete, asphalt, crushed stone, or semi-
pervious materials that are able to withstand vehicular traffic or other heavy-impact uses. The
project narrative states that the property owner anticipates using asphalt to expand the driveway,
but notes that they will consult with a professional contractor to make a final determination as to
what the best material may be. Planning Staff recommend that the City Engineer complete a final
inspection following the completion of the driveway expansion to ensure that the finished product
complies with this section of the LDC.

Section 9.3.4 — Grading & Drainage: This section of the code outlines the requirements for any
grading and drainage measures proposed as part of driveway construction. The project narrative

44 of 70



STAFF REPORT

states that the property owner does not believe that any drainage measures will be necessary.
This standard is not applicable.

Section 9.3.5 - Long Driveways: This section of the code outlines the standards for long
driveways, which are those greater than 300’ in length. The proposed driveway will not be this
long, so this standard is not applicable.

Section 9.3.6 — Driveways Crossing Steep Slopes: The proposed driveway will not be crossing
any steep slopes, which are those greater than 15% in grade, so this standard is not applicable.

SECTION 23.5.4.A — STREET ACCESS PERMIT REVIEW STANDARDS:

1. If the installation of a street access requires disrupting an existing sidewalk, the sidewalk
must be restored or replaced in compliance with this Article.

The proposed driveway expansion will not require the disruption of an existing sidewalk. This
standard is not applicable.

45 of 70



STAFF REPORT

2. Street access shall be placed so as to ensure that vehicles entering and exiting the street
access have an all season safe sight distance in all directions, not only of the road, but
also of bicycle and pedestrian traffic on the sidewalk. For purposes of this Section, an all
season safe sight distance shall be at least 200-ft in all directions within which there are
no visual obstructions.

During his review of the submitted plot plan and narrative, the City Engineer did not express any
concerns related to safe sight distance.
4. There shall be no more than 1 street access point for each residential lot.

The property owners are proposing to expand their existing single curb cut, not create any
additional street access points. This standard is not applicable.

6. Street access shall not block the flow of drainage in gutters, drainage ditches or pipes.

The City Engineer did not express any concerns related to the proposed driveway blocking the
flow of drainage.

7. Street access shall be constructed so that surface runoff runs neither from private
property onto the City street nor from the City street onto private property.

The City Engineer did not express any concerns related to the proposed driveway expansion
directing runoff onto the City Street or adjacent private properties.

8. Street access for single-family dwellings and two-family dwellings, including shared
drives, shall not be more than 20-ft wide at the property line and 30-ft wide at the curbline.

The submitted plot plan shows that the property owner is proposing to expand the existing
driveway, which is currently ~28-wide at the property line and curb line. Two additional feet of
pavement will be added at the curb line for a total width of 30’ of pavement in this area, which will
comply with this standard. Additionally, the property owner is proposing to expand the pavement
by ~13’ at the property line, resulting in an overall driveway width of 41’ in this area. In order to
allow for a width greater than 20’ at the property line, the Board would need to grant an exception
from Section 23.5.4.A.8 of the LDC.

During his review of the revised application materials, the City Engineer noted that Public Works
Department Staff would prefer that the driveway maintain a consistent 41-width from the curb
line to the start of the parking space to reduce the likelihood of cars driving over the area of grass
shown between the property line and curb line on the attached plot plan. When Planning Staff
discussed this with the property owner, he said that he would like to proceed with the design as
proposed and did not want the driveway to be 41'-wide at the curb line. The Board will need to
make a determination as to whether or not the proposed driveway design should be modified
based on the feedback provided by the City Engineer.

In making a determination as to whether or not to grant the requested exception, the Planning
Board will need to evaluate the criteria below, which are outlined under Section 23.5.6 of the LDC.
The project narrative states that the unique physical characteristics of the land that create a
hardship are the fact that the house was constructed diagonally on the lot, which creates an
inefficient use of space. Additionally, the conversion of the former garage into an enclosed porch

46 of 70



STAFF REPORT

by a previous owner has resulted in the loss of a potential parking space. The complete narrative
addresses each of the below criteria individually and is included as an attachment to this staff
report.

“23.5.6 Exceptions to Street Access Standards

Requests for exceptions to the street access standards in Section 23.5 shall be made in writing to
the appropriate permit issuing authority, as defined in Section 23.5.3, which shall have authority to
approve or disapprove a requested exception in accordance with the application and review
procedures for street access permits in Section 26.16 and upon evaluation the following criteria.

A. Issuance of the exception will not adversely affect the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists, and
vehicles using adjacent streets and intersections.

B. Issuance of the exception does not adversely affect the efficiency and capacity of the street
or intersection.

C. There are unique characteristics of the land or property which present a physical hardship
to the requestor.

D. In no case shall financial hardship be used to justify the granting of the exception.”

11. Street access on opposite sides of the street shall be aligned or offset sufficiently, so as
to avoid turning conflicts.

This proposal does not involve the creation of a new street access point. This standard is not
applicable.

12. All street access shall be constructed to standards approved by the City Engineer.

Planning Staff recommend that the Planning Board include a condition of approval related to the
completion of a final inspection of the expanded driveway following by the City Engineer the
completion of work to ensure that it has been constructed to the standards deemed necessary
by the City Engineer.

This is not a temporary street access, so this standard is not applicable.

15 When the installation of a street access requires the cutting of trees or the disturbance of
stone walls which are within the public right-of-way, separate permission for such cutting
or disturbance must be obtained, in accordance with Sections 82-158 and 82-187 of the
City Code of Ordinances, NH RSA 472:6, or other applicable laws.

This proposal does not involve the cutting or trees or disturbance of stone walls within the public
right-of-way. This standard is not applicable.

RECOMMENDED MOTION:
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:

Exception Request: “Move to grant an exception from Section 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land Development
Code to allow for a driveway width greater than 20’ at the property line.”

Application Motion: “Move to approve the Street Access Permit for the expansion of the driveway
at 15 Crestview Street with the following condition:

47 of 70



1.

STAFF REPORT

Following the completion of construction, a final inspection shall be performed by the City
Engineer, or their designee, to ensure that all work was completed in accordance with the
driveway design standards in Article 9.3 of the LDC, Street Access Standards in Article
23.5.4.A of the LDC, and all other applicable City of Keene regulations.”

48 of 70



ff you have questions about how to complete this form, please contact the Public Works Department
at (603) 352-6550.

SECTION 1: PROJECT INFORMATION

PROPERTY ADDRESS: PARCEL SIZE: 9
2 Aeq el

[S Cires i e §dfw¢
lcetne, /\) H DBL-/%\ ZONING DISTRICT: LD

TAX MAP PARCEL #(s): PERMIT TYPE:
521.040-0920.000.000D / RESIDENTIAL STREET ACCESS PERMIT (for single-family & |

4 two-family homes)
- - - - 1 COMMERCIAL & MULTI-FAMILY STREET ACCESS PERMIT
0 TEMPORARY STREET ACCESS PERMIT

SECTION 2: CONTACT INFORMATION

- APPLICANT
SRR O (If different than property owner.)

NAME/COMPANY: NAME/COMPANY:

(',W‘IS 7-&-5;6\’ /,M,J Bn |1/ CMV f{l ’

MAILING ADDRES | MAILING ADDRESS:
15 Crestview Streef ZL,M NH

PHONE: PHONE:

603-499- 23323 o -
EMAIL: EMAIL:

jcu;)_gf, CéqMa: L C,J?’l/\

SIG%TUR?,.‘V,\ %ﬁmw‘ w SIGNATURE:

PRINTED NAME: PRINTED NAME:
hLl?

Chrs Jagel” Britfon

SECTION 3: SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS
LOCATION MAP: This map should show the general location of the property. The City of Keene’s GIS Database (axisgis.com/

keenenh/) can be used to generate a map.

| DRIVEWAY DIAGRAM: This diagram should show the dimensions and drainage of the proposed driveway.

FEES: There is a $50 fee for Driveway Permit Applications. Checks should be made payable to the City of Keene. Credit card
payments are accepted in-person or by calling 603-352-5440.

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT: The proposed design of a driveway will need to comply with the standards outlined in the Land
Development Code (LDC) under Section 9.3, Section 23.5.4, and Section 21.9.2 (for commercial/multi-family driveways on-
ly). These standards are attached to this application form.

PLEASE PROVIDE A BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DRIVEWAY LOCATION, DIMENSIONS, SURFACE MATERIAL, AND GRADING/
DRAINAGE MECHANISM (IF NOT INCLUDED ON THE DRIVEWAY DIAGRAM]’_

]l sep 12 2025

49 of 70




]_
EI

Il sep1a02s |l

Chris Jager
By

Brittany Hill —_—

15 Crestview Street
Keene, NH 03431
603-499-2333

To Whom it may concern,

Writing to you to further detail our narrative for exception to street access code 23.5.6.
We have a new sketch for the proposed driveway extension based on the dimensions
suggested by the staff comments recently received from community development which is
attached separately. The following will detail all points outlined in the “23.5.6 exceptions to
street access standards” which we need to further explain:

A. An exception to street access standards would NOT adversely affect the safety of
pedestrians, bicyclists and vehicles using adjacent streets and intersections as the
proposed driveway extension would be further removed from the intersection of
Crestview street and Phil lane, being proposed for the south side of the driveway. The
new driveway would be further from this intersection and would pose no issue any kind
of traffic

B. The new driveway would NOT adversely affect the efficiency and capacity of the street
or intersection. As stated the proposed extension would be further away from the
closest intersection and street capacity would certainly not be affected as we would be
able to pull an additional vehicle into the new driveway.

C. There are indeed unique physical characteristics of the land or property which present a
hardship to us. We have a corner lot which is great but the house sits on a diagonal on
this corner lot which we believe limits the overall feasible use of the property which may
not be the case had the house been built parallel to the street. The diagonal layout
seems to have limited the depth of the driveway at least in the present day. Also, the
garage on the property was changed by a previous owner and the garage door traded
for a framed wall with windows and a normal doorway essentially creating a garage
“space” but not able to be used to house a vehicle. Other changes to this space include
the addition of a large closet that spans the entire back wall of the garage. This closet
houses the pool pump and filter and was seemingly built for other storage. Even if there
was currently a traditional garage door, for a vehicle to fit in the garage would be very
difficult based on changing of the space by a previous owner.

D. We do not believe financial hardship comes into play here

The surface material for the proposed extension is likely to be asphalit which seems to
make the most sense and match the existing driveway, however we would also want to lean on
the guidance of a professional contractor as to what the best material may be. We imagine
asphalt would be best but also would want to consult that with a contractor

50 of 70



We do not believe any drainage measures would be necessary. Phil lane slopes nicely
to Crestview street and considering we would be keeping the curb on Phil lane in front of the
proposed extension rainwater from the street would flow nicely to Crestview as it does now.
Also the driveway pitch coincides with the slope from Phil lane to Crestview so any water from
the driveway during rain flows nicely back to the street.

We thank you for your continued efforts with our request for this exemption on hope we
have now better detailed and outlined a plan that will accommodate an exemption the the street

access code

Regards,

Chris Jager
Brittany Hill

51 of 70



" i 15 Crestview Street

= .
I1‘& w E City of Keene, NH : ?ecbgr}gﬁlﬂglsllews
e Y 1 inch = 20 Feet .
www.cai-tech.com
0 20 40 60

August 1, 2025

; : - it 4]
5 % =
H T e & e

Data shown on this map is provided for planning and informational purposes only. The municipality and CAl Technologies are not responsible for any use f%'é)thfex}surposes
or misuse or misrepresentation of this map. 0




STAFF REPORT

PB-2025-18 - SITE PLAN REVIEW - CHARITABLE GAMING FACILITY, 109-147 KEY RD

Request:

Applicant Anagnost Companies, on behalf of owner Key Road Development LLC, proposes to
convert ~61,526-sf of existing retail space in the Key Road Plaza development into a charitable
gaming facility for Revo Casino & Social House. The parcel is ~5.8-ac in size and is located at
109-147 Key Rd (TMP #110-022-000) and is located in the Commerce District.

Background:

The subject parcel is an existing 5.8 ac lot located on the north side of Key Rd ~1,300 ft from
Winchester St with Hampton Inn located directly to the south and the Key Road Plaza Shopping
Center to the east. The parcel contains an existing shopping plaza with several multi-tenant
commercial buildings, parking areas, and associated site improvements. The plaza contains
businesses such as the Keene Cinemas, Sherwin-Williams Paints, and Toy City. The NH
Department of Health & Human Services Keene District Office is also located in the plaza.

Fig 1: Aerial of 109-147 Key Rd. located at the red star.

The purpose of this application is to seek approval for a change of use and site plan modifications
to accommodate approximately 15,000 SF change from a retail use to a mixed use that includes
a charitable gaming facility with 180 gaming positions, a 75-seat restaurant, and 1,000 SF of
associated storage space. Additional parking spaces, landscaping, parking lot lighting fixtures,
and screening are also proposed with this application.

53 of 70



STAFF REPORT

Determination of Regional Impact:

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed Site
Plan does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The
Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have
the potential for regional impact.

Completeness:

The applicant has requested an exemption from submitting separate existing and proposed
condition plans, elevations, drainage report, soils, screening, architectural and visual analysis,
historic evaluation, and other technical reports. After reviewing each request, Planning Staff have
made the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no
bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the application as
“complete.”

Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards
relevant to this application.

21.2 Drainage: The applicant states in their narrative that the site will not be changed in a way
that alters drainage patterns on the property. The existing management system will
continue to operate and no increase in runoff will be generated as no additional
impervious surface is proposed. This standard is not applicable.

21.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: There is no proposed earthwork associated with this project.
This standard is not applicable.

21.4 Snow Storage & Removal: Existing snow storage and removal operations will continue to
function as they currently do on the site. This standard is not applicable.

21.5 Landscaping: The proposed addition of 45 new parking spaces requires the installation of
five (5) parking lot trees. The application proposes the installation of five (5) White Oak
trees, three (3) to the rear of the site, one (1) along the eastern property line, and one (1)
along Key Road. A condition of approval related to a financial security to ensure that the
proposed landscaping survives is included in the suggested motion. It appears that this
standard has been met.

21.6  Screening: A six (6) ft tall solid stockade fence is proposed along approximately 190 ft of
the northern property line to provide screening of the new parking spaces and the
charitable gaming facility use from the adjacent multi-family residential use to the north.
It appears that this standard has been met.

21.7 Lighting: The applicant proposes to install two (2) wall mounted light fixtures along the
rear of the building to provide lighting for the new parking area. The fixtures will be
installed 15 ft high and are full cut off fixtures with a color rendering index of 80 and a
color temperature of 3000K.

The photometric data does not show the average/minimum calculation that is required

per section 21.7.4.A.2 of the LDC which requires a uniformity ratio no greater than 5:1 in
footcandles. Staff has requested this information but at the time of this staff report the

54 of 70



21.8

21.9

21.10

21.11

2112

21.13

STAFF REPORT

information was not provided. A condition of approval related to the submittal of this
information is included in the suggested motion language. The Board should also
consider if additional lighting will be needed around the rear of the building to
accommodate the usage of these new parking spaces. The Board will need to determine
if this standard has been met.

Sewer & Water: The applicant states in their narrative that the existing municipal water
and sewer services will be sufficient to meet the needs of the proposed use. It appears
that this standard has been met.

Traffic & Access Management: The applicant states in their narrative that all traffic access
will be from the existing street access points along Key Road. There are no proposed
changes to the location or orientation of traffic access or vehicle circulation throughout
the site as part of this application. The applicant proposes to create 45 new parking
spaces within the plaza. Of the proposed 45 new spaces, 25 are proposed within the
existing rows of parking throughout the site. The remaining 20 new parking spaces are
proposed to the rear of the charitable gaming use near the existing loading dock. The
Board should consider discussing with the applicant who the intended users of the rear
parking spaces are and how they will enter the building.

The submitted traffic study notes the existing condition daily weekday traffic volume at
5,416 trips for the entire plaza. Table 1 below shows the existing and proposed weekday
daily trips and weekday PM peak hour trips. The net increase for peak hour tripsis 13. The
memo states that the proposed change of use does not reach the ITE and NHDOT
threshold of 100 trips per peak hour to qualify this proposal as having a noticeable impact
on surrounding street systems. It appears that this standard has been met.

Table -1 Weekday Daily Trips ~ Weekday PMPeak Hour

Existing 818 99
Proposed | 1770 | 112
Net

Increase 952 13

Filling & Excavation: There is no proposed filling or excavation activity as part of this
application. This standard is not applicable.

Surface Waters & Wetlands: The property is fully developed, and no wetlands appear to be
on the site. This standard is not applicable.

Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant states in their narrative that there are no
hazardous or toxic materials associated with the proposed use. This standard has been
met.

Noise: The applicant states in their narrative that the noise generated by the proposed use
would be minimal as the use will be conducted inside. They anticipate that the use would
generate noise comparable to a movie theater or other similar use. It appears that this
standard has been met.

55 of 70



STAFF REPORT

21.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant states that there will be no changes
proposed to the facade of the building with this application. This standard is not
applicable.

Recommended Motion:

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:
“Approve PB-2025-18 as shown on the plan identified as “Site Plan Exhibit” prepared by
Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 40 feet dated August 22, 2025
and last revised September 15, 2025 with the following conditions prior to final approval
and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair:

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following
conditions precedent shall be met:

A. The owner’s signature shall appear on the plan.

B. Submittal of security for landscaping in a form and amount acceptable to the
City Engineer.

C. Updated photometric data showing that the proposed parking lot lighting
meets the uniformity ratio lighting standard.

D. Submittal of five full-size paper copies and one digital copy of the final plan.

56 of 70



17 H

PROJECT NAME: 133 Key Road - Change of Use

J Site Plan Application

If you have questions about how to complete this form, please cali:
SECTION 1: PROJECT INFORMATION

(603) 352-5440 or email: communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov

| TYPE OF APPLICATION BEING SUBMITTED:
% MAJOR PROJECT APPLICATION

PROJECT ADDRESS(ES): 133 Key Road

o MINOR PROJECT APPLICATION

EXISTING OR PREVIOUS USE: Toy Store

PROPOSED USE: Charitable (_};ning Facility

GROSS FLOOR AREA OF
NEW CONSTRUCTION (in square feet)
0 SF (no new construction)

GROSS FLOOR AREA OF EXISTING

BUILDINGS/STRUCTURES (in square feet)
61,526 SF (per gis)

AREA OF PROPOSED NEW
IMPERVIOUS SURFACES (in square feet)
0 SF (no new impervious surfaces

SECTION 2: CONTA

PROPERTY OWNER

TOTAL AREA OF LAND DISTURBANCE (in square feet)

0 SF (no new construction)

CT INFORMATION
APPLICANT

NAME/COMPANY: Key Road Development, LLC

NAME/COMPANY: Anagnost Companies

MAILING ADDRESS: 1662 Elm Street, Manchester, NH 03101

MAILING ADDRESS: 1662 Elm Street, Manchester, NH 03101

PHONE: 603-669-6194

PHONE: 603-669-6194

EMAIL; dick@anagnost.com

EMAIL: dick@anagnost.com

JM,J LbHu’ & Puther zation

SIGNATURE: 3 oz

i

SIGNATURE; Sce- ay it & futlsrzation
My Gt

PRINTED NAME: Dick Anagnost

AUTHORIZED AGENT

PRINTED NAME: Dick Anagnost

¢/o Chad Branon, PE

(if different than Owner/Applicant) FOR OFFICE ISt S
NAME/COMPANY: Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC TAX MAP PARCEL #{s):

110-023-000-

MAILING ADDRESS: 206 Elm Street, Milford, 03055

PHONE: 603-672-5456

PARCEL SIZE: DATE STAMP:

S ac

EMAIL: cebranon@fieldstonelandconsultants.com &
clntchle@ﬁeldstonelandconsultants com

DE@EDWED
m AUG 2 5 2025 U |

ZONING DISTRICT:

SIGNATURE: f /I/U)JM/ m

Commey &

By__

PRINTED NAME: Chuck Ritchie

PROJECT #:

25- 9025 \d

57 of 70




W

S N E Surveying € Englineering
Land Planning < Septic Designs

LY = & EEE

B 206 Elrn Street, M11ford NH 03055 - Phone 603-672-5456 - Fax: 603-413-5456
/_# www.FieldstonelLand Consultants.com

V

Change of Use Site Plan Project Narrative
Tax Map Lot 110-22
133 Key Road

August 22, 2025

Prepared For:
Anagnost Companies

Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC, on behalf of Anaghost Companies is submitting this narrative as
part of the Planning Board Site Plan review application. This project proposes to change the use of
use from Toy City Toy Store to a Charitable Gaming Facility, Revo Casino & Social House. The
property is a commercial site located at 133 Key Road in Keene, tax map 110-22 and is 5.8+ acres
with frontage on Key Road. The building on site is occupied with multiple tenants in the same strip
mall. Other tenants include Sherwin-Williams Paint, Keene Cinemas, Keene Department of Health
& Human Services District Office, Enterprize Comics, Etc., and Oriental Rug Works. The entire
building is 61,526 square feet of gross area per online tax card. This change of use would not
require any new construction on site or additional impervious surfaces. A variance request has
been submitted to the Keene Zoning Board of Adjustment to allow this use to operate 170't froma
multi-family residential structure where 250’ is required.

Below is an outline of the Site Development Standards on the application and how each is addressed.

20.2 Drainage & Stormwater Management:

The stormwater management on site will not be changed due to the proposed change of use. Runoff
from the site will continue to be captured in catch basins in the parking lot. There will be no increase in
runoff as there is no additional proposed impervious surfaces.

20.3 Sediment and Erosion Control:
There is no proposed earthwork or grading associated with this project. Changes made will be interior

improvements, and there will be no sediment or erosion control for this change of use.

20.4 Snow Storage & Removal
The site will continue to function as it currently operates in terms of snow storage.

20.5 Landscaping
As an existing operational facility, there are no proposed changes to existing landscaping at this time.

20.6 Screening
As an existing operational facility, there are no proposed changes to existing screening at this time.

20.7 Lighting
The site is currently lighted from pole mounted lights around the site and parking areas. There is no

proposed changes to lighting at this time.

58 of 70



FIELDSTONE

Anagnost Companies
Project Narrative - Tax Map Parcel 110-22 - 133 Key Road Page 2 of 2

20.8 Sewer & Water
The site is currently will maintain current sewer and water services, which have sufficient capacity for

the new use. Review that the change of use will be able to be properly serviced will be reviewed with
the Department of Public Works or other necessary entity.

20.9 Traffic & Access Management

All traffic and access to the site will be off Key Road, as it currently operates. Parking will continue to
be provided on site. Additional parking spaces will be striped within the existing paved areas as shown
on the site plan. Based on the ITE Trip Generation, a 9,000 square foot casino will generate 245 trips
in the weekday peak pm hour.

20.10 Filling & Excavation

There is no proposed filling or excavation of materials for the proposed change of use.

20.11 Surface Water & Wetlands

The property is a fully developed site with a building and paved parking area. There do not appear to
be any surface waters or wetlands on site.

20.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials

There are no hazardous or toxic materials believe to be associated with the proposed business use.
20.13 Noise

The noise associated with this business would be minimal as patrons at the gaming facility will be
indoors. The use will likely create no more noise than adjacent movie theater or other similar uses.
20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance

The building is proposed to remain the same but there will be fagade improvements along the portion
of the building being renovated. This design is in process and will be provide as part of the building
permit. The existing building consists of brick columns and brick fagade, with metal roofing. There will
be updated signage for the new use and permitting for signage will be handled separately when final
designs are determined.

This information was prepared by:
Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC

Cp\aﬂjﬁ?/ %ﬁw

Chuck L. Ritchie, E.L.T.
Project Engineer

59 of 70



60 of 70



FLC-31

Sep 16, 2025 — 12:14pm
P:\O_FLC\O_PROJECTS',04233\,4233.00\DWGS",

.

110-21

110-20

INSTALL 6—FT HIGH
WHITE STOCKADE FENCE
(APPROX. 190 LF)

PLANT WHITE OAK
TREES (3' DIA AS
MEASURED 6" OFF
GROUND) AS SHOWN

7 \

Pt 65-

b N2t > b
N

) 7~ADD 11 PARKING.
SPACES >

=

CHARITABLE 7|
GAMING

FACILITY

AND

RESTAURANT.

M)

NEW PARKING SPACES

Illuminance (Fc)

BUILDING MOUNTED LIGHTS: e 238

OR EQUAL

Minimum = 0.0
Avg/Min Ratio
Max/Min Ratio

Luminaire Schedule

Symbol

Oty

Arrangement

Description

Tag

[MANUFAC]

2

Single

XWM-3-LED-6L-30-80CRI-UE-CXX~
ALBMR1LR

WALL MOUNTED 15' AFG LSI

INDUSTRIES,
INC.

JADD gt
PARKING=:
SPACES

PROPOSED BUILDING
MOUNTED LIGHT (TYP.)

11 alggy)

QJADD 2

PARKING
SPACES

ADD 16 PARKING
SPACES

111-23

REFERNCE PLAN:

"BOUNDARY PLAN — LOTS 164-02-001-0000 & 164—02-001-0100 — 101 & 109-147
KEY ROAD — KEENE, NH 03431" SCALE: 1"=40', DATED: MARCH 2, 2017 LAST REVISED ON

3/2/2017, DRAWN BY: CARDINAL SURVEYING & LAND PLANNING. RECORDED IN THE C.C.R.D.
AS PLAN 24133.

NOTES:
1. THE OWNER OF RECORD FOR TAX MAP 110 LOT 22 IS KEY ROAD DEVELOPMENT LLC,
1662 ELM STREET, MANCHESTER, NH 03101. THE DEED REFERENCE FOR THE LOT IS

RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF DEEDS IN BOOK 3296 PAGE 1071
DATED 12/12/24.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN IS TO SHOW THE APPROXIMATE EXISTING CONDITIONS FOR
TAX MAP 11 LOT 3 AND PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS FOR A CHANGE OF USE APPLICATION
FOR A CHARITABLE GAMING FACILITY TO OCCUPY A PORTION OF THE EXISTING PLAZA.

3. CURRENT ZONING IS COMMERCE (COM).

ZONING REQUIREMENTS FOR THE COMMERCE (COM) DISTRICT INCLUDE:
— MIN. LOT SIZE: 15,000 AC.

— MIN. FRONTAGE: 50 FT.

— MIN. FRONT SETBACK: 20 FT.

— MIN. SIDE & REAR SETBACK: 20 FT.

4. INFORMATION SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WAS DEVELOPED FROM THE REFERENCE PLAN CITED
HEREON, LIDAR AND GIS DATA. THIS IS NOT A RESULT OF A FIELD SURVEY.

CONTOURS SHOWN HEREON WERE GENERATED FROM POINT CLOUD DATA FROM THE
CONNECTICUT RIVER WATERSHED (2015).

TAX MAP 110 LOT 22 CONTAINS 303 EXISTING PARKING SPACES.
PARKING CALCULATION:

REQUIRED:

CHARITABLE GAMING FACILITY: 1 SPACE/0.75 GAMING SPOTS
180+ GAMING SPOTS X 0.75 = 135 PARKING SPACES

RESTAURANT: 1 SPACE/5 SEATS
75 SEATS / 5 = 15 SPACES

RETAIL: 4 SPACES/1,000 SF
24,651 SF / 250 = 98.6 SPACES

OFFICE: 4 SPACES/1,000 SF
15,976 SF / 250 = 63.9 SPACES

STORAGE: 1 SPACE/3,000 SF
4,350 SF / 3,000 = 1.5 SPACES

TOTAL REQUIRED PARKING SPACES = 314 SPACES

EXISTING PARKING SPACES = 303 SPACES
PROPOSED PARKING SPACES = 45 SPACES

TOTAL PARKING SPACES PROVIDED = 348 SPACES

GRAPHIC SCALE

40"
IMPERIAL: 1"=40"

9/16/25 REV'S TO LIGHTING

9/15/25 REV'S PER STAFF REVIEW

DATE DESCRIPTION

SITE PLAN EXHIBIT
TAX MAP 110 LOT 22
(133 KEY ROAD)
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
PREPARED FOR:

ANAGNOST COMPANIES

1662 ELM STREET, 2ND FLOOR, MANCHESTER, NH 03101
LAND OF:

KEY ROAD DEVELOPMENT LLC

1662 ELM STREET, MANCHESTER, NH 03101

SCALE: 17 = AUGUST 22, 2025

Surveying 4 Engineering ¢ Land Planning ¢ Permitting ¢ Septic Designs

. FIELDST®NE

o

E [LAND CONSULTANTS, PLLC |

206 Elm Street, Milford, NH 03055
45 Roxbury Street, Keene, NH 03431
Phone: (603) 672-5456 Fax: (603) 413-5456
www.FieldstoneLandConsultants.com

8l af 70

FILE: 4233SP00B.dwg | PROJ. NO. 4233.00 | SHEET: SP-1 PAGE NO. 1 OF 1



MEMORANDUM

Date: August 28, 2025

To: Chad Brannon
Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC
45 Roxbury Street
Keene, NH 03431

From: Jason R. Plourde, PE, PTP

Subject: Traffic Assessment
133 Key Road Proposed Project Change
Keene, New Hampshire

INTRODUCTION

BETA Group, Inc. (BETA) has prepared this Traffic Assessment to summarize the anticipated trafficimpacts
associated with a proposed project change to the existing use at 133 Key Road in Keene, New Hampshire.
The site currently contains a 61,526 square foot strip shopping plaza within Key Road Plaza. The proposed
project includes renovating the existing 15,000 square foot Toy City store within the plaza with a 180-
gaming position charitable gaming facility, 1,000 square feet of associated storage space, and a 75-seat
restaurant.

Key Road is legislatively categorized as a Class V: Local Road, functionally classified as a Local Road, and is
under City of Keene jurisdiction. Therefore, review and approval are expected to be required with respect
to traffic through the City of Keene permitting process. In accordance with Article 21.9.1.A of the City of
Keene’s Land Development Code, a traffic study is required for any commercial, office, or industrial
development projected to generate 100 or more daily vehicle trips. This evaluation has been conducted
to summarize the anticipated traffic impacts associated with the proposed project change.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

Existing traffic volumes in the area were researched from historical data provided within New Hampshire
Department of Transportation’s (NHDOT'’s) Transportation Data Management System (TDMS) database.
NHDOT conducts a three-year traffic count program along Key Road west of Old Key Road.! The most
recent traffic counts collected and uploaded to the NHDOT traffic-volume database for this location were
from July 2025.

On Wednesday, July 16, 2025, the traffic volumes along Key Road west of Old Key Road experienced the
highest peak hour demands during the commuting periods between 8:00-9:00 AM and between 5:00-6:00
PM, as well as during the midday period between 1:00-2:00 PM. On Saturday, July 12, 2025, the highest
peak hour demand along Key Road occurred between 1:00-2:00 PM. The NHDOT historical data are
summarized in Table 1 and are provided in the Appendix.

1 NHDOT TDMS, Key Road west of Old Key Road, Keene. (Location ID: 82237137).

BETA GROUP, INC.

www.BETA-Inc.com
62 of 70



Chad Brannon
August 28, 2025

Page 2 of 4
Table 1 - Existing Traffic Volume Summary
Daily Traffic Peak Hour Traffic K-Factor
Location/Time Period Volume (vpd) 2 Volume (vph)® (percent) €
Key Road west of Old Key Road
Weekday Daily 5,416 -- --
Weekday AM Peak Hour -- 180 3.3
Weekday Midday -- 495 9.2
Weekday PM Peak Hour -- 458 8.5
Saturday Daily 5,756
Saturday Peak Hour -- 579 10.0

2 In vehicles per day. Collected on Wednesday, July 16, 2025, and on Saturday July 12, 2025.
bn vehicles per hour. Collected on Wednesday, July 16, 2025, and on Saturday, July 12, 2025.
¢ Percent of average daily traffic occurring during the peak hour.

The K-factor is the proportion of daily traffic that occurs in an hour. This factor helps traffic engineers in
analyzing and designing roadways to meet the demands of varying traffic conditions. Many rural and
urban roadways experience a K-factor that falls between 9.0 and 10.0 percent. The K-factor may exceed
10.0 percent for roadways with heavy peak traffic demand.? Higher K-factors are generally experienced
along commuting routes and in residential areas when people are driving to and from work. In retail areas,
the K-factors are typically higher during the weekday midday, weekday evening, and Saturday midday
peaks.

As shown in Table 1, the K-factors along Key Road during the weekday AM and PM commuting peaks are
below the typical range (9.0-10.0), which suggests that traffic volumes along Key Road may have had a
relatively even distribution of traffic throughout the day, or that traffic volumes were not the highest
during the weekday commuting peak hours. During the weekday midday and Saturday midday peaks, Key
Road is shown to have higher K-factors when customers are typically patronizing the retail establishments
along Key Road.

BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES

As evaluated within this Traffic Assessment, the proposed development consists of replacing the existing
15,000 square foot toy store with a 180-gaming position charitable gaming facility, 1,000 square feet of
associated storage space, and a 75-seat restaurant.

2 Dowling, Richard, et al. Planning and Preliminary Engineering Applications Guide to the Highway
Capacity Manual. National Cooperative Highway Research Program Report 825, Washington, DC:
National Academy of Sciences, 2016.

63 of 70



Chad Brannon
August 28, 2025
Page 3 of 4

TRIP GENERATION

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) trip rates were reviewed to estimate the additional volume of
traffic to be generated by the proposed project change.® Table 2 summarizes the ITE trip-generation
estimates for the proposed development. The trip-generation calculations are provided in the Appendix.

Based on ITE trip-generation methodologies, the proposed project change is estimated to generate
13 additional vehicle trips (10 entering and 3 exiting) during the weekday PM peak hour of adjacent street
traffic, 63 additional vehicle trips (35 entering and 28 exiting) during the weekday PM peak hour of
generator, and 53 additional vehicle trips (31 entering and 22 exiting) during the Saturday peak hour of
generator.

In accordance with ITE methodologies* and New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT)
general guidance,® a development may result in a noticeable change in vehicular operations if the addition
of site trips would increase peak hour traffic volumes at an intersection by 100 vehicles or more. Traffic
increases less than this threshold could be attributed to the fluctuation of vehicles due to driver patterns
that occur during the day, on different days of a week, or different months of a year. Based on standard
traffic engineering practice and methodologies, the proposed development is not projected to meet this
threshold during the weekday PM peak hour of adjacent street traffic, weekday PM peak hour of
generator, and Saturday peak hour of generator. Therefore, standard traffic engineering practice suggests
that the proposed development would not be expected to result in noticeable impacts to the adjacent
roadway system.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

In summary, traffic engineering practice suggests that the additional vehicular trips associated with the
proposed project change do not meet the ITE and NHDOT 100 vehicle per hour increase threshold for
which developments may have a noticeable impact.

3 Institute of Transportation Engineers. Trip Generation Manual, 11th ed. Washington, DC, Sept. 2021.

4 Institute of Transportation Engineers. Transportation Impact Analyses for Site Development: An ITE
Proposed Recommended Practice. Washington, DC. 2010.

®> Bollinger, Robert E. Inter-Department Communication. New Hampshire Department of Transportation,
Bureau of Traffic. 17 Feb. 2010.

64 of 70



CITY OF KEENE ITEM #K.2.
NEW HAMPSHIRE

Meeting Date: July 17, 2025

To: Mayor and Keene City Council

From: Donald Lussier, Public Works Director

Through: Elizabeth Ferland, City Manager

Subject: Relating to an Amended Return of Layout for a Public Right-of-Way known

as Grove Street and Relating to a Deed for land removed from the Right-of-
Way and an Easement for Public Infrastructure

Petition - Public Works Director

Resolution R-2025-26

Resolution R-2025-27

Council Action:

In City Council July 17, 2025.

Referred to the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee and Planning
Board. Site visit scheduled for September 4, 2025 at 5:30 PM. Public hearing to be held
September 4, 2025 at 7:00 PM.

Recommendation:

That the Mayor set a date and time for a site visit and public hearing on a Petition to Amend the
Layout of Grove Street; and further that the attached petition be referred along with Resolutions R-
2025-26 and R-2025-27 to the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee as well as
the Planning Board for their consideration and recommendations.

Attachments:

1. 2025 0715 Petition to amend the Layout of Grove Street

2. R-2025-26 Relating to an Amended Return of Layout for a Public Right-of-Way known as Grove
Street

3. R-2025-27 Relating to a Deed for land removed from the Right-of-Way and an Easement for
Public Infrastructure

Background:

On December 18, 2014, the Keene City Council authorized the acceptance of a deed and the
modification of the Grove Street layout. These actions were taken in order to widen the roadway at its
intersection with Water Street. The anticipated development project that required the addition of a
dedicated left turn lane never came to fruition. In recent years, Public Works has received requests
from the public to reconfigure the Grove Street / Water Street intersection to better align with
Community Way and to eliminate the left turn lane. A recently completed traffic study suggests that

2025-301

Page 182 of 188



this request can be safely accommodated.

In addition, Habitat for Humanity has requested that the City return a strip of land acquired from
parcel No. 585-057 in 2015. This narrow strip of land along the eastern parcel boundary will allow the
non-profit organization to pursue development of a duplex on the property instead of a single-family
home.

The attached petition would remove a strip of land, ranging in width from less than three feet to
approximately 5 feet, from the public right-of-way. A portion of the original 2015 property acquisition
will be retained, as it is needed to accommodate existing public infrastructure. Although Public
Works believes the land is not needed for existing public infrastructure or orderly traffic operation,
removal of the strip from the right-of-way will likely preclude any future construction of a sidewalk
along the west side of Grove Street.

If the City Council agrees to amend the layout of the roadway, Resolution R-2025-27 will authorize
the City Manager to execute a deed conveying the land removed from the public right-of-way to the

adjacent property owner. In exchange, the City will receive an easement from the property owner to
retain the current public infrastructure (i.e., a fire hydrant), in its current location.

2025-301

Page 183 of 188



CITY OF KEENE

Petition for an Amended Layout of Grove Street

TO: Mayor and Keene City Council

The undersigned represents that for the accommodation of the Public there is occasion to amend the
layout of Grove Street by completely discontinuing and removing from the Public ROW the following
tract of fand:

Beginning at an iron pin set in the Western line of Grove Street, said pin being the
southeast corner of a Parcel No. 585-057; Thence,

North 5° 44' 54" East along the westerly line of said Grove Street a distance of 59.81 feet
to a metal spike set in the pavement; Thence,

Following a curve to the left with a Delta angle of 66° 54' 51", a radius of 16.00 feet, and
an arc length of 18.69 feet to a metal spike set in pavement; Thence,

Following a curve to the right with a point of curvature bearing of South 30° 38’ 45" East, a
Delta angle of 74° 7' 46", a radius of 21.00 feet, and an arc length of 27.17 feet to a drill

hole in granite curbing; Thence,

South 7° 49' 28" West a distance of 60.18 feet to a point in the Westerly line of Grove
Street, said point also being the northeasterly corner of parcel No. 585-056; Thence,

North 89° 31' 8" West along the northerly line of said Parcel No 585-056 a distance of 2.73
feet to the place of beginning..

Containing 257 Square Feet, More or Less.

All being as shown on a plan titled "Right of Way Amendment Plan, Prepared for the City of
Keene," Dated 6-25-2025; by David A. Main Survey, on file at the Office of the City Engineer
for the City of Keene.

The costs of construction and all other necessary improvements for the amended layout shall be paid by
the Petitioner and shall conform to the Public Infrasturcture Standards of the City of Keene.

The under5|gned therefore, requests you amend the layout of Grove Street as described above.

W 2 . oate: 7/ /S;/ as—

Donaldﬁ./(ussmr, P.E.
Public Works Director

Page 184 of 188



R-2025-26

CITY OF KEENE

A RESOLUTION  Relating to an Amended Return of Layout for a Public Right-of-Way known as Grove
Street

Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

WHEREAS the Keene City Council has received a “Petition for an Amended Layout of Grove Street”; and,

WHEREAS at a regularly scheduled City Council meeting on July 17, 2025, the Mayor scheduled a site
visit and public hearing to occur on August 21, 2025, and directed the City Clerk to make appropriate
notifications to the petitioner and affected property owners; and,

WHEREAS the Petition was referred to the Planning Board in accordance with RSA 670:40; and,

WHEREAS the City Council made a personal examination of the requested amendments at a properly
noticed site visit conducted on August 21, 2025, and heard testimony from concerned parties at a
property noticed public hearing held that same day; and,

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

The Keene City Council is of the opinion that for the accommodation of the public there is occasion to
amend the layout of Grove Street for the purposes of altering the highway, utilities and other public
improvements as described in a “Petition for an Amended Layout of Grove Street” dated July 15, 2025,
subject to the following conditions:

1. Approval of the final plans and construction by the City Engineer.
2. All expenses associated and in connection with the Petition shall be borne by the petitioner.

3. All affected property owners shall provide a written Waiver of Damages in a form satisfactory to
the City Attorney.

4. All documentation is in a content and form acceptable to the City Attorney, City Engineer, and
Planning Director.

In City Council July 17, 2025.

Referred to the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee and Planning
Board. Site visit scheduled for September 4, 2025 at 5:30 PM. Public hearing to be held
September 4, 2025 at 7:00 PM.

G s Ftrt

City Clerk Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 185 of 188



R-2025-27

CITY OF KEENE

A RESOLUTION  Relating to a Deed for land removed from the Right-of-Way and an Easement for
Public Infrastructure

Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

The City Manager be and hereby is authorized to:

1. Execute a deed conveying land removed from the public Right-of-Way as described in
Resolution R-2025-26 back to the owner of the adjacent parcel; and,

2. To accept an easement to operate, maintain, repair, and replace an existing fire hydrant
installed within the land to be conveyed; and,

3. To apply to the Keene Planning Board for a Boundary Line Adjustment, or other such land use
applications as the Community Development Director may deem necessary; and,

4. To do all things necessary to carry out the Resolution R-2025-26.

In City Council July 17, 2025.
Referred to the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee and Planning
Board. Site visit scheduled for September 4, 2025 at 5:30 PM. Public hearing to be held

September 4, 2025 at 7:00 PM.

Gy Dt

City Clerk

Jay V. Kahn, Mayor

Page 186 of 188



—

IRON PIPE
\" BENT OVER

LEGEND

92 WATER STREET

ALK

== € 80
/N"SZ'MA'
408 P

TAX MAP 585—-058—000—000—000
HILARY SOLDATI & LACI VIDEMSKY

W ovovLO N —

KEENE, NH 03431

BOO c«olO® 00

WATER VALVE
UTILITY POLE
MAN HOLE
SHRUB
MONUMENT FOUND
IRON PIN FOUND
FIRE HYDRANT
GUY ANCHOR
DRILL HOLE
DECIDUOUS TREE
CATCH BASIN
UTILITY EASEMENT
PROPERTY LINE
FORMER P/L

GILSUM

SULLIVAN

=

WESTMORELAND

1F

CHESTERFIELD

MARLBOROUGH
/ SWANZEY

PROJECT

NOTES

BEARINGS ARE BASED ON GPS OBSERVATION AS PROVIDED.
AND THE PLAN IN NOTE 2A.
2. PLAN REFERENCES:

"80.3")
315 "80 — s
P WAL DEED CORNER——p

A. GROVE STREET WIDENING PLAN, PREPARED BY SVE ASSOCIATES
DATED 3-11-2013, ON FILE AT KEENE PUBLIC WORKS.
n27 17 fm——————— 3. ASSESSOR INFORMATION BASED ON TOWN RECORDS:
- 58.41 DRILL HOLE N R21.00' | TAX MAP PARCEL #585-057-000-000-000
E CONCRETE WALK DY
A10.21° D74°07'46 | MONADNOCK HABITAT FOR HUMANITY, INC.

RON PIPE FOUND R16.00 | | PO BOX 21

BENT OVER AND D36°34°06” / | KEENE, NH 03431

1.45't EAST OF )

DEED LOCATION Al8.e9. ‘ ! TAX MAP 885-031-000-000—000 VOL. 3307 PAGE 1311

217 GINNY SPIKE !
\ D66'54'51" SINNY SPIKE / PEQ‘%;EST?}&S EQASLC 4. ZONING DISTRICT: RP
LAND CONVEYED TO THE CITY
5. THE RIGHT OF WAY OF WATER STREET AND GROVE STREET ARE AS
! S OT =8 FRE | OF KEENE IN BOOK 2894 PG 33. ! NEW ‘%3;/‘/7‘%% 3N4"é 03071 SHOWN ON CITY MAPPING AS PROVIDED, SEE NOTE 2A ABOVE.
REVISED LOT 585-057 3% 8 o |
EASEMENT
\ TAX MAP PARCEL #585-057-000—000—000 |
MONADNOCK HABITAT FOR HUMANITY, INC.

| 168 CASTLE STREET

KEENE, NH 03431
VOL. 3307 PAGE 1311
PARCEL #585-057
0.10 Acrest

4702 Sq. Feet
+257 Sq. Feet

4959 Sq. Feett
0.11 Acres+

DRAFT 6-26-2025

FOR REVIEW AND COMMENT

V0L
MVoe

RIGHT OF WAY AMENDMENT PLAN
OF
REVISED LOT 585-057

PREPARED FOR

CITY OFNDKEENE

L MONADNOCK HABITAT
/ i FOR HUMANITY, INC.

ZERO GROVE STREET
LANDON REALTY TRUST
/ SUSAN MAZZONE TRUSTEE

CITY OF KEENE
98 OVERVIEW DRIVE COUNTY OF CHESHIRE
JAFFREY, NH 03452

3188/392

FORMERLY R.OW. LIMIT
CITY OF KEENE AS LAID_OUT
3 WASHINGTON STREET
KEENE, NH 03431
3088/751

PROPOSED.
BOUNDARY

N 89'31°08" W
IRON PIPE FOUND
1" 0D DO "

557 ¥
WN 4 | I
NEAR ANGLE IRON 2.73

~—\——
!

--__40.00

IRON PIPE FOUND
TAX MAP 585-056—000-000-000

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
. TTe—— SCALE: 1 INCH =10 FEET
PER PLAN IN T T MAY 27, 2025
; NOTE # 2A.
210 HOLDINGS LLC ! ! (GONE)
PO BOX 164 | /
MARLOW, NH 03456 ! h
2637/34 }. !

0 10 20 30

" —
j /

THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PREPARED BY ME OR THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT
\ SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION RANDOM OFFSET CONTROL TRAVERSE.
\,'\ THIS IS A RURAL STANDARD PROPERTY SURVEY. DIMENSIONS SHOWN HEREON
|
|

ARE SUBJECT TO THE CLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO THE SURVEY CLASSIFICATION. <
THIS SURVEY AND PLAT ARE INVALID WITHOUT AN ORIGINAL SIGNATURE AND SEAL. %
i THIS SURVEY AND PLAT ARE SUBJECT TO ANY ITEMS THAT A TRUE AND ACCURATE % DAVID A MANN SURVES
! TITLE ABSTRACT AND OPINION MAY REVEAL, CONSULT LEGAL COUNSEL FOR ALL % PRETEI
| " MATTERS REGARDING TITLE. O A .  CHESTERFIELD, N.H. 03443
! g 603 903 7259
,/ / i DAVID A. MANN LLS 641 b s‘mu@‘)\/\ Ny
|

) —25-2025, EAST BOUNDARY
BLOCK: 6-9-2025, ADDRESS



City of Keene
New Hampshire

MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Rhett Lamb, Planning Directord/
DATE: November 12, 2014

SUBJECT:  Planning Board recommendation regarding R-2014-22 and R-2014-23 —-
Resolution relating to the layout of Grove Street and the acquisition of land to be
added to the existing layout.

At its meeting of October 27, 2014 the Planning Board voted to recommend adoption of
R-2014-22 and R-2014-23.

BACKGROUND

Mr. Lamb stated that new road layouts under the statute are being referred to the Planning
Board; the City Council does have the final say but the Planning Board can provide advice to
the Council. In this case there is a petition filed by the City’s Public Works Department to widen
the approaches to Grove Street to add turn lanes at the southern end of Marlboro Street and at
the northern end of Grove Street. It was part of the improvements carried out to accommodate
the additional traffic and the development on the Railroad property.

The petition before the Planning Board adds to the layout of three parcels at the south end of
Grove Street on the Savings Bank of Walpole side which is the land acquired from the bank.
Also, at the corner of Jennison Street, a small corner to accommodate the sidewalk; and at the
other end where Water Street, Grove Street and Community Way come together to widen the

road.

Mr. Lamb stated that there are two Resolutions before the Planning Board; R-2014-22 and
R-2014-23 for the acceptance of land for the amended portions of Grove Street and the return
of land to the portions of Grove Street. He indicated that the action the Planning Board would be
taking is to recommend that the City Council approve the petitions for the amendment to Grove
Street. Mayor Lane stated that what is happening is a formality because the road has already
been built. Mr. Lamb added that the amendment puts it in a status of a public highway.

A motion was made by Michael Welsh that the Planning Board approve the petitions for the
amendment to Grove Street. The motion was seconded by Gary Spykman and was
unanimously approved.

K:\BOARDS\PLANNING\Reports To Council\2014_11_04_Grove_St_layout.docx 65 of 70




CITY OF KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and ........... B OUT eI

A RESOLUTION ... FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF LAND AND DEEDS FOR AMENDED
PORTIONS QF LAYOUTGROVE STREET
Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

® That the City Council of the City of Keene accepts and hereby
does accept conveyances from Savings Bank of Walpole, and,
Michael Lynch and Jeanette Wright for property along Grove
Street as described in the attached Warranty Deeds. ‘

¢ That the City Manager be and hereby is authorized to accept deeds
for the land described in the attached Warranty Deeds.

s This Resolution is conditional upon all documentation be in a form
and content acceptable to the City Attorney, City Engineer, and

Planning Director.

Kendall W. Lane, Mayor

In City Council October 2, 2014.

Referred to the Planning Board and the Municipal
Services, Facilities and Infrastructure Committee.

Site visit scheduled for 5:30 PM, Thursday, November

6, 2014. Public Hearing scheduled for the same evening
at 7:00 PM in Council Chambers.

City Clerk

PASSED

66 of 70




(oh

R-2014-23

CITY OF KEENE

In the Year of Qur Lord Two Thousand and ....,..,...Eg!%{[.??l.l. ..........................................................................................

A RESOLUTION ... FOR THE AMENDED RETURN OF LAYOUT OF APUBLICRIGHTOF =~
WAY KNOWN AS GROVE STREET
Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:

The Keene City Council is of the opinion that for the accommodation of the
public there is occasion to amend the layout of Grove Street for the purposes of
altering a highway, utilities or other public improvements as described in the
attached Return of Layout and said Petition, subject to the following conditions:

1. Approval of the final plans and construction by the City Engineer.

2. All expenses associated an in connection with the lay out and
acceptance of request street, utilities, and/or public improvement
borne by the petitioner.

Construction and acceptance by the Public Works Director or

3.
his/her designee of the laid out street, utilities, and/or other public
improvements within a thirty-six (36) month period from the
approval vote by the City Council

4. All documentation is in a content and form acceptable to the City
Attorney, City Engineer, and Planning Director.

5. If construction has not started within the twenty-four (24) month

period from the date of Council action, said approval of lay out
shall not become effective and can only be extended upon petition

to the City Council.

Kendall W. Lane, Mayor
In City Council October 2, 2014.
Referred to the Planning Board and the Municipal Services,
Facilities and Infrastructure Committee. Site visit scheduled for
- 5:30 PM, Thursday, November 6, 2014. Public Hearing scheduled
for the same evening at 7:00 PM in Council Chambers.




From: Mari Brunner

To: Kathleen Richards; Evan Clements

Cc: Megan Fortson; Emily Duseau

Subject: RE: For distribution to Planning Board

Date: Wednesday, September 17, 2025 11:43:34 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png

Im PN

Thank you Kathleen, we will include this in the September 29 Planning Board agenda packet.

Best,
Mari

From: Kathleen Richards <krichards@keenenh.gov>

Sent: Wednesday, September 17, 2025 10:04 AM

To: Mari Brunner <mbrunner@keenenh.gov>; Evan Clements <eclements@keenenh.gov>
Subject: For distribution to Planning Board

Hello Mari and Evan,
The below communications is being distributed by our office to the Mayor and City Council.
Would you please also distribute that to the Planning Board.

My best,
Kathleen

Kathleen Richards
DEPUTY CITY CLERK

External: (603) 352-0133 x2

Internal: x6029
<richards@keenenh.go

3 Washington Street, Keene, NH 03431
KeeneNH.gov

£ vl I in

From: Erik Murphy <erikmurphy@me.com>
Sent: Wednesday, September 17, 2025 9:42 AM
To: Kathleen Richards <krichards@keenenh.gov>

Cc: Joan Murphy <joangmurphy@me.com>
Subject: Please distribute to the City Council

Keene City Council and Planning Board:

We are opposed to the ordinance until the "6 dwelling units by right" change is
removed.

The reason for this letter is to request the addition of three requirements to the
6-unit ordinance:

1. Require site plan for 4-6 units

Trigger administrative/site-plan review for projects >4 units in MD so
staff can check stormwater, waste storage, snow storage, and fire
access (apparatus turning, hydrant offsets). Reference NFPA 1

68 of 70


mailto:mbrunner@keenenh.gov
mailto:krichards@keenenh.gov
mailto:eclements@keenenh.gov
mailto:mfortson@keenenh.gov
mailto:eduseau@keenenh.gov
mailto:krichards@keenenh.gov
https://www.keenenh.gov/
https://www.facebook.com/CityKeene
http://www.twitter.com/NotifyKeene
https://www.youtube.com/@TheCityofkeene
https://www.instagram.com/city_of_keene/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/city-of-keene.
mailto:erikmurphy@me.com
mailto:krichards@keenenh.gov
mailto:joangmurphy@me.com













£








access width in the checklist.

2. Stormwater/LID standard for 4-6 units

Require on-site infiltration sized per the NH Stormwater Manual
(with underdrains where soils are poor) and a canopy/trees
standard (e.g., 1 new shade tree per 2 spaces paved).

3. Curb management in MD blocks

Direct Public Works/KFD to pre-mark fire lanes where needed, add
stop bar/daylighting at corners with frequent curb saturation, and be
ready to pilot RPP on the first blocks that exceed occupancy
thresholds at night.

ALONGSIDE THE ORDINANCE

Adopting specific mitigations can also reduce the negative impact of new 6-unit

dwellings:

A) Parking & curb management

On-street spillover is the typical complaint when minimums of 6 units fit
on legacy lots. Neighbor pushback often cites overflow and character.

Safety at intersections. More parked cars closer to corners can hide
people biking/walking. Similar cities now “daylight” corners (remove the
first parking space) to improve sight lines. Expect trade-offs with curb
space.

Mitigations: adopt corner-daylighting rules; signed residential permit
zones or time limits; allow/require shared parking; keep new
driveways/curb cuts to alleys or side streets to preserve on-street supply
and sight lines.

B) Fire & emergency access

Narrowed clear width from heavy on-street parking can impede
apparatus. Standard fire-code language requires 20-26 ft clear widths
and multiple access routes for taller/larger buildings (IFC 8503 &
Appendix D).

Mitigations: stripe “no-parking” fire lanes; require turn-radius
templates in site plan review; ensure aerial apparatus setbacks for
anything >30 ft tall (common with stacked sixplexes).

C) Water, sewer & stormwater

Localized capacity pinch points (old 4-6" mains, low-pressure zones, or
flat sanitary runs) may trigger service upgrades.

In older New England towns with combined sewers, added roof/driveway
area can worsen CSO risk during heavy rain unless offset by green
infrastructure. EPA guidance is explicit on using LID to curb CSOs.
Mitigations: require on-site LID (bioretention, permeable paving, tree
canopy targets), roof-leader disconnection, and post-

construction stormwater controls per the MS4 program; use modeling
tools (e.g., EPA SSOAP/SWMM) during review to verify downstream
capacity.

Please consider both recommendations for improving the ordinance, bringing
flexibility to developers and landlords and protecting the safety and beauty of
medium density neighborhoods. If no revisions are made to the proposed

69 of 70



ordinance we stand in opposition.

Respectfully,
Erik & Joan Murphy
287 Roxbury Street Keene NH 03431

70 of 70



	2025_09_29_pb_agenda
	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA
	Monday, September 29, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	A. AGENDA ITEMS
	1) Call to Order – Roll Call
	2) Minutes of Previous Meetings – August 25, 2025 & September 8, 2025

	2025_08_25_PB_Minutes_Edited
	2025_09_08_PB_Minutes_Edited
	September_Final Approval Recommendations Memo
	MEMORANDUM

	15 Crestview St_Staff Report
	Appeal of Decision on Street Access Permit_Mini Packet_NO SR
	Casino_Staff Report
	Key Road Casino_Mini Packet_NO SR
	Letter from Erik & Joan Murphy_Medium Density Ordinance_Rec. 09-17-25
	2025_09_29_pb_agenda_AMENDED.pdf
	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA - AMENDED
	Monday, September 29, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	A. AGENDA ITEMS
	1) Call to Order – Roll Call
	2) Minutes of Previous Meetings – August 25, 2025 & September 8, 2025




